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Secure Computing®
is a leading provider of enterprise gateway security 

solutions.  Powered by our TrustedSource® technology, our best-of-breed 

portfolio of solutions provides Web Gateway, Messaging Gateway, and 

Network Gateway security, as well as Identity and Access Management.  

We are proud to be the security solutions provider to many of the 

most mission-critical and sensitive environments in the world.  Over 

half of the Fortune 50 and Fortune 500 are part of our more than 

19,000 global customers, supported by a worldwide network of 

more than 2,000 partners.  Our customers operate some of the 

world’s largest and most sophisticated electronic business 

operations, and include prominent organizations in banking, 

financial services, telecommunications, healthcare, manufac-

turing, public utilities, and federal and local governments.  The 

company is headquartered in San Jose, California, and has 

offices worldwide.

1 Total assets include goodwill from acquisitions of $533.7 million for 2006, $25.4 million for 2005, $25.5 million for 2004, $26.5 million for 2003 
   and $15.2 million for 2002. 
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To Our Stockholders,

2006 was an exciting and momentous year for Secure Computing, and sets a new course for our company. During the year,
we completed and successfully integrated two significant acquisitions that added to our existing technology, providing a very
strong foundation for our company. We also introduced several new industry-leading products to the market.

With the integration of CyberGuard and CipherTrust complete, the size, scope, and reach of our company has changed
dramatically. We have become one of the largest independent security companies, and the industry leader in the Secure
Content Management Appliance and Messaging Security Appliance markets. Our global footprint now encompasses over
19,000 customers in 106 countries, with over 2,000 resellers.

Equally important, through the CyberGuard and CipherTrust transactions we realized our goal of providing a comprehensive
and integrated set of enterprise gateway security solutions powered by proactive protection. We have seen this need in the
market develop over the last few years, and have methodically been taking the appropriate steps to either build, acquire or
partner to obtain key technologies to meet the market’s growing needs.

Combining three sizable organizations into one company is a major undertaking that requires dedication, planning and hard
work. That undertaking is now paying off for our company, and today Secure Computing is very well positioned in the
changing competitive landscape of the IT security industry. Together, we are now one company with the singular focus, of
providing our customers with the products necessary to proactively protect their IT infrastructure at the Enterprise Gateway.

2006 Financial Performance

Despite a disappointing first half, we achieved very solid financial results in 2006. Billings were a record $219.1 million,
which is an 81 percent increase compared to the prior year. Throughout 2006, we experienced strong gross margins and
remained intensely focused on controlling our operating expenses.

Our company also continued its tradition of strong cash generation. In 2006, we generated a record $36.1 million of cash
from operations, and used $95 million for the CipherTrust transaction. Concurrent with the closing of the transaction, we
closed a senior secured debt facility that comprised of a $90 million term loan and a $20 million revolving credit facility. We
ended the year with $8.7 million in cash and investments.

Addressing Today’s Evolving Security Threats

Even in the earliest days of the Internet, there was a need for security. Back in those days, installing a firewall and deploying
an intrusion detection system were adequate steps to control unwanted traffic. Over time, Internet use has changed
dramatically and correspondingly, new threats such as spam, phishing, data leakage, and malware have emerged.

Today’s Internet threat environment continues to evolve and is now populated by lower profile, targeted attacks as cyber
criminals identify new ways to steal information. The attack activity has also shifted away from notoriety to financial gain. A
recent FBI survey noted that computer-based attacks, launched from 36 countries, cost American businesses a staggering $67
billion in 2005.

We view demand in the security market remaining very strong. As Chief Information Officers and Chief Security Officers
wrestle with today’s highly sophisticated and well orchestrated attacks, we believe they are responding and will continue to
respond very well to our best-of-breed, integrated capabilities at the enterprise gateway. Our products proactively protect all
key access points into a company’s internal network – the network gateway, the web gateway, and the messaging gateway, as
well as Identity and Access Management (IAM).

The New Secure Computing

So, who is the new Secure Computing? We are a leading provider of enterprise gateway security, and address some of the
fastest growing segments of our industry. Our strategy is to provide our customers with an integrated, best-of-breed product
portfolio that protects the core areas of the enterprise gateway. We provide bi-directional protection by proactively blocking
inbound threats such as spam, viruses, intrusion, zombies and phishing attacks, as well as guarding corporate information
from data leaks and compliance violations.



Our solutions are comprehensive and centrally managed security appliances that provide real-time proactive protection
powered by TrustedSource™, our global, real-time reputation system for the Internet. TrustedSource operates similarly to a
credit agency monitoring past and future fiscal responsibility in the financial world. By TrustedSource monitoring and
assigning a “reputation score” to a huge portion of Internet connected devices and clients based on past behavior, our suite of
Enterprise Gateway Security appliances can decide if certain Internet traffic should be allowed to enter the Enterprise
network. Not only does TrustedSource stop harmful email, web or application traffic at the network edge, it saves companies
money by lowering bandwidth requirements and reducing the number of downstream servers.

Continued Product Innovation

Clearly, our success will be determined by our ability to understand how the industry will evolve and deliver innovative,
industry-leading solutions to the market.

As part of Secure Computing’s vision to provide comprehensive enterprise gateway security, earlier this year we introduced
Sidewinder® 7.0 and Webwasher® 6.5. Sidewinder 7.0 is the industry’s first and only firewall to incorporate reputation
technology to provide proactive and reliable protection. In addition to the integration of the TrustedSource reputation
technology, Sidewinder 7.0 also includes significant enhancements from CyberGuard’s TSP and Classic firewall products,
providing a natural and attractive upgrade path to those customers. Webwasher 6.5 is the industry’s first and only reputation-
based Web gateway security solution, and delivers reputation-based URL filtering for corporate users surfing the Web, and
provides bi-directional protection to stop inbound threats such as spyware, phishing or other malware, and prevent outbound
threats related to sensitive data leaks.

In 2007, we will be integrating our powerful TrustedSource reputation solution into key components of the IAM product
suite. Strong authentication is a key component of any good enterprise security defense, and when coupled with the
capabilities of reputation-based security systems, it provides significantly great defense capabilities. By adding
TrustedSource into our product mix, Secure Computing will continue to increase our product superiority and differentiation
with a unique additional tier of user reputation to existing IAM capabilities.

Looking ahead, we will continue to drive product innovation to ensure that we stay ahead of our competitors as well as the
spammers, hackers and phishers. Secure Computing exited 2006 with 269 people in R&D, representing one of the largest
research and development teams focused solely on security in the industry.

Delivering on the Promise

In 2006, we made evolutionary changes that support our long-term strategy. Now, we are fully focused on execution across
all areas of our company, and delivering on the promise – to become the undisputed leader in enterprise gateway security.
We believe our unique balance of financial strength, product leadership and global presence will truly position Secure
Computing as a clear leader in our industry in the future.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to thank our customers, partners, employees and stockholders for your
continued confidence and support.

Sincerely,

John McNulty
Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive Officer
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PART I

Forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in the documents incorporated by
reference herein that are not statements of historical fact are forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended. The words “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “predict,” and other similar expressions
identify forward-looking statements. In addition, statements which refer to projections of our future financial
performance, anticipated growth and trends in our business and other discussions of future events or
circumstances are forward-looking statements. A number of risks and uncertainties, including those discussed in
Item 1A under the caption “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by reference herein,
could affect such forward-looking statements and could cause actual results to differ materially from the
statements made. We do not undertake any obligation to update or correct any forward-looking statements.

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “Secure Computing,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Registrant” refer to
Secure Computing Corporation.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

We are a leading provider of enterprise gateway security solutions. Our best-of-breed portfolio of solutions
provide Web Gateway, Messaging Gateway, and Network Gateway Security, as well as Identity and Access
Management that are further differentiated by the proactive protection provided by TrustedSource™ (global
intelligence). We are proud to be the security solutions provider to many of the most mission-critical and
sensitive environments in the world. Our customers operate some of the world’s largest and most sophisticated
electronic business operations, and include prominent organizations in banking, financial services,
telecommunications, healthcare, manufacturing, public utilities, and federal, state and local governments.

Across virtually all industries, organizations are using both the Internet and corporate private intranets and
extranets to expand their business. This includes inbound access for remote employees, partners, and customers,
as well as employees reaching beyond the edge of the internal network to communicate and gather information
across the Internet. Our commitment is to support this method for exchanging information by mitigating risks
and protecting information assets from the multitude of threats present on the Internet.

The bi-directional aspect of internet protocol (IP) based information exchange and application use creates a
significant challenge for enterprises in terms of protection from malware, compliance with regulatory
requirements, preventing data leakage, lost productivity, and the like. Given the sophistication of network and
application-layer attacks, intelligence must be shared and leveraged across security applications. This intelligence
must reflect, in real time, the changing security profile of the Internet, and flexible mechanisms to ensure
regulatory compliance and reporting need to be hard-wired into the security infrastructure. We believe layered
security or “defense-in-depth” needs to be viewed not only as a best practice for perimeter defense but also as
something to be extended to mission-critical applications within the network. We define and implement a
comprehensive set of gateway functions required to provide this necessary defense-in-depth for the primary
mission-critical applications in the enterprise. This ongoing objective is at the heart of our mission.

We have formed partnerships with a number of companies in several different capacities. We make these
solutions available to customers through the best and most advantageous channels possible, including solution
providers, systems integrators, distributors, and companies who include our solutions in their product offerings.
These companies include, for example: Alternative Technologies, AT&T, Blue Coat Systems, Cisco, Computer
Associates, Comstor, Crossbeam, Dell, EDS, F5, Hewlett-Packard, McAfee, Microsoft, Network Appliance,
NetOne Systems, Novell, PGP Corporation, SafeNet, Sun PS, SAIC, Tech Data, Voltage Security, Westcon, and
Workshare.
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We operate our business within one operating segment called enterprise gateway security. For information
regarding our revenue by geographical area, see Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For
information regarding the percentage of our revenue contributed by each of our product lines, see Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Founded in 1989, we are incorporated in Delaware. Our principal executive offices are located at 4810
Harwood Road, San Jose, California 95124. Our telephone number at that location is (408) 979-6100. Our home
page on the Internet is www.securecomputing.com. Other than the information expressly set forth in this annual
report, the information contained, or referred to, on our website is not part of this annual report.

Acquisitions

On January 11, 2006, we completed our acquisition of CyberGuard Corporation, a leading provider of
network security solutions designed to protect enterprises that use the Internet for electronic commerce and
secure communication, in a stock and cash transaction valued at $310.7 million. This acquisition strengthens our
position as one of the market leaders in Network Gateway Security appliances, and strengthens our position in
the Web Gateway Security space. CyberGuard was a logical fit for us, enhancing our strategic vision and better
positioning us in two rapidly growing segments of the security industry. Along with an expanded customer and
partner base, this merger provided us with important competitive advantages in the Network and Web Gateway
Security markets.

On August 31, 2006, we completed our acquisition of CipherTrust, Inc., the global leader in the messaging
security market, in a stock and cash transaction valued at $270.1 million. CipherTrust’s products provide
innovative layered security solutions to stop inbound messaging threats such as spam, viruses, intrusions and
phishing, and protect against outbound policy and compliance violations associated with sensitive data leakage.
CipherTrust’s products include IronMail®, powered by TrustedSource™, IronIM™, Secure Computing Edge™,
IronNet™, and RADAR™. As a result of the acquisition we expect to establish ourselves as a leader in the
Messaging Gateway Security market. In addition to protecting corporate network infrastructures, our combined
solutions will address the fast-growing Web and messaging gateway security needs.

Industry Background

The rapid adoption of the Internet as a worldwide networking standard has accelerated the distribution and
sharing of data and applications, enabling enterprises to adopt new electronic ways of doing business. The
developing reliance on worldwide connectivity has allowed companies to greatly expand their business
opportunities. Activities such as electronic trading of goods and services, online delivery of digital content,
electronic funds transfers and share trading are now achieved in unprecedented ways. But with this growing
opportunity comes new challenges for securing IT systems. The very features that give electronic business its
power have elevated information security to a critical business issue.

Today’s enterprise is no longer confined to a set of physical buildings; rather, the enterprise has become
virtual. The Internet’s power of connectivity has erased physical barriers, allowing an organization to establish
ties around the globe. A business is no longer a single, isolated entity; it is part of a greater whole of
interdependent entities whose lifeblood depends on the secure, electronic sharing of information. Organizations
must now transcend the physical barriers of yesterday and expand their security measures outward to protect
their digital resources beyond their physical buildings. They must also migrate their security measures inward to
each individual’s computer or laptop.
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Conducting Business Over Public Networks

As Internet-based infrastructure broadens, so do the risks associated with this exposure. These risks increase
daily and threaten confidentiality, integrity, and secure availability of intellectual property, proprietary data, and
computing resources. Such threats present themselves in many forms, including the following:

• Malicious attacks are becoming more sophisticated and continuing to increase in volume. According to
International Data Corporation (IDC), a global provider of market research, malicious code, spyware
and spam continue to be the most serious threats facing corporations today, but protecting sensitive data
from leaving the organization is rapidly climbing the priority list of enterprise security threats.

• Hackers and attackers are no longer focused on hobby, but rather strict and prosperous financial gain,
fraud and identity theft, which continue to be the leading drivers behind the increasing sophistication
and volume of attacks.

• Web-based malware programs sent on infected pages or through email downloaded from Web-based
mailbox or via embedded images can attack automatically and in real time, making Web security
concerns a top priority for organizations seeking protection from the jump in spyware, Trojans, worms,
and other Web-traffic attacks.

• Risks from exposure to malicious software, worms, and viruses that can enter networks from many
sources and cause damage, install spyware, or open secret backdoors into private computing resources.

• Theft by both infiltrators and employees of private citizen records and other proprietary information in
violation of numerous federal regulations and statutes and state and local statutes, such as Sarbanes-
Oxley, the Gramm-Leach Bliley Act, and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act.

• Intruders gaining unauthorized access to private computing resources and software applications.

• Legal liability exposure resulting from employee Internet access, or from hijacked use of desktop
personal computers and servers for unauthorized file storage and file-sharing schemes.

• Identity theft and spoofing.

• Network and application server downtime due to denial of service (DoS) and distributed denial of
service attacks (DDoS).

• Confidentiality leaks via email, instant messaging chat sessions, person to person file sharing, and
unauthorized attachments that leave private networks unfiltered.

• Productivity losses from spam clogged email inboxes.

Application-Level Vulnerabilities

In today’s highly complex Internet environment, network attacks have evolved into application-level
attacks, and recently, an entirely new class of application-specific threats have arisen that require far more
stringent protection. Protecting the network is highly important, but by itself, is not sufficient. The network is the
foundation for communication, and the conduit over which people connect to the application resources they need
and it is precisely these applications that can expose an organization’s information resources to extreme
vulnerability. Our products are designed to proactively address most, if not all, network security issues, whether
its employees utilizing the Internet, or remote partners and customers accessing the intranet, Web services, and
applications from outside the internal network. Our security measures extend beyond the network level,
protecting applications and their resources so organizations can conduct their business, expand their reach, and
drive success with confidence.

From email applications to Web services, File Transfer Protocol (FTP), customer relationship management
(CRM) and sales force automation systems, people connect across networks to applications in order to conduct
business every day. Misuse of applications and Web portals can result in the loss of valuable resources and
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millions of dollars. As the applications we use have become more sophisticated, so have the attack capabilities
that threaten them. Applications contain inherent vulnerabilities, and sophisticated attackers can exploit these
vulnerabilities and undermine an organizations’ ability to conduct its business. Defensive measures must be even
more sophisticated in their ability to protect against application-level threats—and our technology is designed
with this in mind.

Along with protecting against known threats, today’s security solutions must be able to anticipate unknown
threats before they enter the network. A central part of an organization’s business model must include provisions
for safeguarding their business connections from being compromised to the highest degree possible.

Market Need and Strategy

More than ever before, organizations realize that they must take responsibility to protect their own
confidential information and that of their customers and partners. Government regulations in recent years, such
as the Federal Information Security Management Act, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act,
the Gramm-Leach Bliley Act, and the Children’s Internet Protection Act, have heightened awareness and
mandated that organizations secure their information across multiple segments—financial, medical, educational,
and more. Enterprises must know that the data residing on a given network is secure and that parameters are in
place for managing access to their proprietary information. Even as deadlines are met on these laws, enterprises
must continue to refine their compliance solutions and move towards focusing on ongoing compliance. In the
coming years, larger enterprises which had to put in a “quick fix” to meet deadlines will be looking to implement
longer-term and more efficient solutions. Smaller businesses, which enjoyed some extended deadlines from
Congress, are still implementing their first-time compliance solutions, representing a significant opportunity for
security companies with a broad range of solutions.

Our strategy is to provide organizations, both at the enterprise level as well as the Small and Medium
Business (SMB) level, with a broad set of solutions when it comes to implementing their security objectives,
beginning with knowledge about security risks and regulations, accompanied by industry-leading security
products to assist with mitigating these risks, and lastly, providing comprehensive security management
capabilities. Our goal is to help organizations build confidence in the overall functionality and security of their
network and application operations. We accomplish this by providing scalable, manageable, highly available
solutions that meet their needs today and in the future. This objective includes meeting our customers’
requirements for security products that provide broad solutions by integrating with each other and interoperate
within current infrastructures. All of our products are designed to provide the strongest network protection
available, along with central manageability, scalability, and interoperability.

Providing solutions that are manageable, easy to use and that lead the industry in total cost of ownership for
the customer are our top objectives for organizations of all sizes. Our solutions enable best business practices that
keep the workplace secure, productive, and easily manageable.

Our strategy also encompasses our award-winning service and support organization. We are able to provide
our customers with unwavering service and support due, in part, to the knowledge base and technological
expertise of our service and support staff.
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Secure Computing Solutions

Our specialized solutions are designed to meet customers’ needs to balance security and accessibility, and to
help them create trusted environments both inside and outside their organizations. Each of our products provide a
complete solution in and of itself, and they also integrate with each other for a more comprehensive, unified, and
centrally managed solution. We have developed a vision for comprehensive security on the enterprise gateway
that embodies the following core design principles:

• Appliance-based delivery. All security functionality related to application intelligence and awareness
needs to reside on a contained appliance. These appliances must be built on a secure operating system
platform, have a regulated set of interfaces to external systems, and be encased in strong, tamper-proof
hardware. Essentially, the appliance must mitigate the many security management problems of
deploying software on a standard operating system-server configuration.

• Application and content awareness. Today’s security attacks have progressed far beyond the network
and protocol level to that of the application and content. The gateway needs a deep knowledge of the
underlying communication, an understanding of the context of the communication, and the ability to
inspect and interpret the content.

• Centralized policy, management and reporting. The security gateway must have the ability to be
centrally configured, provisioned and managed. This, along with consolidated reporting, should provide
immediate feedback on the effectiveness of the security appliance while helping reduce the cost of
ownership.

• Bi-directional protection. The security gateway needs to effectively scrutinize inbound traffic in order
to block bad traffic from entering the network, while simultaneously performing deep inspection of
outbound content to protect against leaks of confidential information or intellectual property.

• Proactive protection. With the rapid increase in polymorphic threats, the ability to know immediately
what could be dangerous is imperative. A gateway security system should be able to effectively thwart
these attacks in real time.

• User management and education. The security gateway needs to protect all types of sensitive data
automatically, with easy-to-manage policies, comprehensive audit trails, and employee feedback loops.

• Performance. As traffic volumes increase exponentially, the gateways must be able to keep up and
scale for performance without having to replace them, or take them off-line for major upgrades.

• Resiliency. Security gateways should not introduce points of failure to the mission at hand.

Our solutions for securing critical connections fall into four categories: TrustedSource Global Intelligence,
enterprise gateway security appliances (Network, Web, and Messaging Gateways), Identity and Access
Management, and Security and Support services.

TrustedSource Global Intelligence

We believe TrustedSource technology is the most precise and comprehensive Internet host reputation
system in the world, which we are rolling into many of our product lines as a key cornerstone of Global
Intelligence security. TrustedSource characterizes Internet traffic and makes it understandable and actionable,
and also creates a profile of all “sender” behavior on the Internet and then utilizes this profile to watch for
deviations from expected behavior for any given sender. TrustedSource then calculates a “reputation score”
based on the behavior of the sending host. We have an extensive network of thousands of sensors and other
collection vehicles throughout the Internet which tracks and reports back to TrustedSource, data on all observed
email traffic, giving TrustedSource a real-time view of Internet communication worldwide.

Originally developed to identify spammers, TrustedSource is able to recognize any “host” profile anomalies
and immediately calculate new reputation scores for senders and propagate this information to all TrustedSource
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clients. Analyzing not only email senders but Internet domains as well, this Global Intelligence technology is
able to profile literally millions of entities connected to the Internet worldwide in real-time, and provide up-to-the
minute host behavior analysis. TrustedSource is the first and only reputation system to combine traffic data,
whitelists, blacklists and network characteristics with the unparalleled strength of our global network. We believe
the result is the most complete reputation system in the industry with the ability to score every IP address across
the Internet.

Enterprise Gateway Security Appliances

Network Gateway Security

Our enterprise gateway security platforms are the aggregation points not only for application-specific
defense-in-depth technologies based on deep knowledge of the underlying protocols and application
environment, but also a mechanism for introducing real-time intelligence to security-relevant decisions about the
disposition of application-specific traffic. This incorporates host and domain intelligence as well as bi-directional
security services in the areas of compliance, policy, encryption, email, Web, and anti-malware protection. These
services leverage centralized policy and management and are fully integrated with TrustedSource and
SafeWord® Identity and Access Management technology.

The idea of the network perimeter has evolved significantly since the advent of the Web. A mobile
workforce, extranets, distributed applications and an environment of highly sophisticated, blended threats has
forced enterprises to deploy an array of separate security applications to provide services such as firewall, Virtual
Private Network (VPN), Intrusion-Detection System (IDS)/Intrusion-Prevention System (IPS), anti-virus, anti-
spam, and more. The recent movement toward all-in-one appliances has helped mitigate the problem to an extent,
especially for small and mid-size companies, but three major issues still remain: 1) many solutions rely on known
malware signatures and fail to offer protection against previously unknown attacks 2) the Internet is a dynamic
environment, with a security profile that changes in real time, and 3) enterprise security applications often fail to
adequately share policy and application intelligence between one another. Our Network Gateway Security
products address each of these areas of concern, providing the industry’s strongest application firewall
protections.

Sidewinder G2 Security Appliance—Our security appliances consolidate all major Internet security
functions into a single system. Sidewinder G2® defends the network against all types of threats, both known and
unknown. Through its unified threat management (UTM) approach, Sidewinder delivers best-of-breed anti-
spyware, anti-virus, anti-spam and anti-fraud engines, Web content filtering, TrustedSource IP reputation
services, secure Domain Name System (DNS), VPN, and Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) gateways, and more.

In 2006, we continued to differentiate our UTM appliance from the competition with demonstrable zero-
hour attack protections on high profile Internet attacks (such as the Sendmail vulnerability in March and
Microsoft Windows MetaFile “WMF” attack in January). We also announced plans to merge our newly-acquired
CyberGuard® Firewall/VPN technologies (TSP and Classic) with our Sidewinder G2 Security Appliance in our
next generation UTM appliance that has come to market in the first quarter of 2007. The CyberGuard acquisition
also brought to us a new paradigm in enterprise central management with the Command Center which we will
continue to leverage going forward. We believe Command Center’s ability to do administration, configuration,
monitoring, and management of software updates for a global appliance deployment coupled with our Security
Reporter product’s central reporting, and full out-of-the box compliance reports, continue to ensure that both
medium and large customers see our network gateway appliances as the product of choice.

Sidewinder G2 continues its proven security track record, in great part due to our SecureOS® operating
system with our patented Type Enforcement® technology and flexible application level protection mechanisms.
In 2006, our accomplishments of FIPS 140-2 validation and continued leadership with Common Criteria (CC)
EAL4+ certification for application level firewalls puts us in an unparalleled class of product when competing in
the U.S. and other government opportunities all around the world.
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CyberGuard Total Stream Protection (TSP)—Like Sidewinder G2, CyberGuard Total Stream Protection
(TSP) line of UTM appliances is designed to protect mid-size to large enterprises against both known and zero-
hour attacks, using a hybrid architecture that combines stateful packet filtering, seven layer inspection, and
secure content policy enforcement. The devices include a fully integrated IPSec VPN, flexible authentication and
advanced filtering strategies. Sidewinder G2 and TSP share common hardware.

SnapGear—SnapGearrr ™ security appliances integrate networking, firewall, intrusion prevention security,
and remote access requirements into one small form-factor appliance, fulfilling the lower end of the pricing scale
of our network gateway security line of products. Designed to provide a complete office-in-a-box networking
device for small and mid-sized organizations, SnapGear is the only networking device needed for office PCs to
be networked with one another, connect securely to the Internet, connect to the corporate WAN, and service all
remote access VPN needs, thereby providing small and midsize businesses with enterprise-level networking
capabilities.

Web Gateway Security

Web Gateway Security appliances protect enterprises from malware, data leakage, and Internet misuse,
while helping to ensure policy enforcement, regulatory compliance, and a productive application environment.
These platforms analyze traffic bi-directionally. Inbound, they isolate and eliminate threats from all types of
malware, including zero-day threats, viruses, Trojans, spam, phishing, and the like. They use a deep knowledge
of the underlying protocols and application behavior combined with global intelligence to make security
decisions. On the outbound side, in addition to preventing virus propagation and unwanted Web site access, our
enterprise Web Gateway Security helps customers achieve regulatory compliance and prevent data leakage
across both Web and messaging applications.

Webwasher—Webwasherrr ® Web Gateway Security appliances provide best-of-breed content security to
secure Web-based enterprise traffic. Webwasher provides URL filtering to block access to inappropriate Web
content and help prevent phishing attacks, and provide malware protection with Proactive Security technology to
guard against zero-day attacks and blended threats. Webwasher also features SSL Scanning which identifies and
blocks malicious content hidden in SSL-encrypted traffic from accessing the network and confidential
information from leaving the network. All products can be managed from a single Web Graphical User Interface
(GUI) and Content Reporter offers enterprise-class reporting on all Webwasher products and most gateway cache
appliances and firewalls. In 2006, and continuing into 2007, WebWasher has begun integration, and will
continue, to integrate SmartFilter for its current and future URL filtering capabilities.

SmartFilter—Our flagship URL filtering application, SmartFilterrr ®, is an enterprise solution currently
shielding thousands of organizations from inappropriate use of the Web and the security threats often associated
with viewing inappropriate, malicious or infected Web sites. SmartFilter provides deployment and platform
flexibility with over 30 different options including leading firewalls, security appliances, proxy servers or
caching systems. SmartFilter continues to be the de facto filtering standard for original equipment manufacturers
(OEM). SmartFilter is integrated on market-leading solutions from vendors such as McAfee and Computer
Associates.

Messaging Gateway Security

Messaging has undergone a fundamental change in enterprise environments. Not too long ago, most
electronic messaging was confined to applications like Microsoft Outlook and Lotus Notes. Now with the advent
of Web-based mail applications like hotmail and gmail, as well as instant messaging, there are many more
channels both into and out of the enterprise network. In fact, messaging is now the preferred attack vector for
hackers, and spam is their weapon of choice. Hackers now employ sophisticated networks of thousands of
“zombie” computers or “botnets” to send messages infected with malware, putting the enterprise at a significant
disadvantage. Even more discouraging is the sharp rise in zero-day attacks, where there is no known signature
that can be used to block the attack.
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Furthermore, messaging now represents a bi-directional challenge. Not only are inbound threats becoming
much more sophisticated and targeted, but outbound data leakage and regulatory compliance have become huge
and well-publicized liabilities for enterprises. Users can easily attach confidential documents to emails and
Instant Message (IM) conversations, making it trivial for sensitive information to find its way outside the
network. Outbound content checking is not common practice. And even in instances where such controls are in
place, where the enterprise user is communicating over an SSL-encrypted link (i.e., HTTPS), there is typically no
mechanism in place to decrypt and inspect the traffic to ensure that policies are being enforced.

Recognizing that messaging is now a primary business application in most enterprises, we have
implemented a strategy to comprehensively address both inbound and outbound threats and to help our customers
insure compliance with federally mandated requirements for the protection of sensitive data. Our Messaging
Gateway Security platforms look at traffic bi-directionally. Inbound, they proactively isolate and eliminate
threats from all types of malware—zero-day threats, viruses, Trojans, spam, phishing, and the like. We use a
deep knowledge of the underlying protocols and application behavior combined with real-time global
intelligence to add a new dimension to security-related processing.

On the outbound side, through sophisticated fingerprinting and data profiling techniques, our Messaging
Gateways are able to determine which data (either in the form of text in a message or text within an attachment)
need to be blocked or flagged due to security or compliance concerns. Our Messaging Gateways can also enforce
mandatory outbound encryption for certain traffic types without requiring the installation of client software on
the recipient’s system. We also prevent virus propagation throughout the messaging infrastructure, delivering
maximum availability and security, effectiveness and global enterprise manageability across multiple messaging
protocols including email, instant messaging and Webmail. This combination of easy-to-manage gateway
appliances and sophisticated, centralized real-time network intelligence provides clean, efficient
communications, eliminating both inbound and outbound risks.

IronMail—IronMail® provides a centrally managed, integrated, best-of-breed messaging gateway security
appliance for enterprises of all types and sizes. In one integrated appliance, IronMail protects enterprise email
systems from inbound (spam, viruses, phishing, and hackers) as well as from outbound threats (regulatory or
corporate policy compliance violations or theft/leakage of confidential information or intellectual property). We
have integrated TrustedSource IP reputation identities into our IronMail Messaging Gateway Security appliances
to provide real-time behavior analysis on more than one-third of the world’s enterprise messaging traffic with
over 7,000 sensors located in 48 countries.

IronIM—The IronIMMM ™ instant messaging security appliance is the first and only solution that integrates
policy to secure, log, monitor, and encrypt enterprise IM communications. IronIM allows administrators to
control and manage the use of public and enterprise IM from a single management platform to eliminate risks
from IM-borne threats, ensure compliance with various industry and government regulations, and monitor for
information leakage or other policy violations. IronIM supports multiple instant messaging networks (including
AOL Instant Messenger, MSN Messenger, Yahoo! Messenger, and corporate IM solutions including Microsoft
LCS and IBM SameTime) and does not require deployment of a new IM client.

RADAR—RADAR™ protects an organization’s online reputation, whether by detecting and stopping
phishing scams or identifying and fixing PCs. RADAR receives a real-time stream of behavior-based intelligence
from our TrustedSource global threat correlation engine to detect deviations from expected behavior for all
senders and provides real-time alerting to customers.

Secure Computing Edge—Secure Computing Edge™ is a hardened appliance positioned at the perimeter of
the mail system, applying TrustedSource technology to control email traffic at the network border rather than at
the mail server or desktop. Edge relies on TrustedSource for information about every sender, to allow or reject
email before it even reaches critical mail servers.
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Identity and Access Management

One important development in enterprise security has been recognition of the need for strong authentication
as a prerequisite for access to corporate network resources (either remotely or from inside the network). Strong
authentication has now been coupled with a fully-functional access gateway and the ability to coordinate policies
governing the extent and scope of corporate resource access by individuals. This combination of strong
authentication, centralized policy management and the ability to report at a very granular level on security-
relevant activity is commonly referred to as Identity and Access Management (IAM), and is fundamental to any
corporate security strategy.

We expanded our SafeWord® product line in 2006, thereby providing a comprehensive Identity and Access
Management portfolio that is fully integrated into our enterprise gateway security strategy and provides strong
authentication and centralized policy and reporting across the entire enterprise gateway security portfolio.

Remote access to network resources is a requirement for many businesses, but verifying the identity of your
remote users with strong authentication and a reliable identity management system is vital for security.
Additionally, organizations are increasingly realizing the many vulnerabilities of passwords, and they require
strong authentication systems that are easy to install and deploy, simple to manage, and able to grow with their
needs.

Our SafeWord products meet these needs. By providing safe access to applications, data, and resources
through policy-driven security initiatives, as well as positively identifying users through strong authentication,
SafeWord products assure that only the right people can make connections to an organization’s applications and
resources. SafeWord software and SafeWord tokens offer flexibility, scalability, and ease of use, and are used by
thousands of organizations and millions of end users worldwide every day.

SafeWord SecureWire—In April 2006, we broadened our presence in the authentication market into the
IAM space by introducing our SafeWord SecureWire™ appliance. IDC defines the IAM market as a
comprehensive set of solutions used to identify users in a system and control their access to resources within that
system by associating user rights and restrictions with the established identity. SafeWord SecureWire is a new,
robust technology that functions as the access, authentication, and compliance hub for the entire network.
SecureWire is designed to simplify access to applications, data, and network resources by hosting and managing
all external access methods on a single appliance, such as, VPNs, Citrix applications, extranets, and Webmail.
SecureWire can also host and manage all internal access methods: LAN connections, wireless LANs, and even
mainframes. By providing secure access management inside and outside the virtual perimeter, and by
consolidating all policies on a single device, SecureWire helps enable our customers to achieve configuration
compliance because only properly configured devices are allowed to access their networks.

We include SafeWord strong authentication tokens with every SecureWire shipment to allow customers to
provide proof-positive identity of all users entering their network. SecureWire is also available in a wireless
package, now bundled with our SnapGear wireless appliance to provide a complete wireless access management
system. The access appliance also delivers a reliable mechanism to enable configuration compliance, enforcing
every end-point device to adhere to corporate IT policy, including work PCs, laptops, home PCs, and
workstations. SecureWire allows our customers to mandate that only properly configured, properly secured
devices are granted access according to their security policy, and to ensure that system patches, anti-virus
software, and firewall protection are all in place.

SafeWord PremierAccess is our leading strong authentication solution for Microsoft environments using
Active Directory, providing proof-positive user identities via VPNs, Citrix applications, Outlook Web Access,
Windows Domain and Terminal Services logins. SafeWord PremierAccess® offers powerful management tools
with the Enterprise Solution Pack (ESP), an optional add-on package that provides advanced user management,
support for a wide range of authentication form factors, advanced reporting capabilities, and rich access control
functionality.
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SafeWord RemoteAccess is a simple, easy-to-use strong authentication solution designed to protect VPN,
RADIUS, Citrix, and Outlook Web Access connections. With tight integration and simplified management
through Active Directory, and with tokens that generate new passcodes with every user login, SafeWord
RemoteAccess™ lets you easily and cost-effectively eliminate the password risk. RemoteAccess is available in
the following branded versions: SafeWord RemoteAccess, SafeWord RemoteAccess-Cisco compatible,
SafeWord for Citrix, SafeWord for Check Point, and SafeWord for Nortel Networks.

Security and Support Services

Our services are designed to ensure that our customers make optimal use of our products when controlling
access to their networks and applications. We provide a life cycle of support and services, including: Solution
Planning, Solution Implementation, and Solution Support. These services are described below.

Solution Planning—Our Security Services offerings include a variety of options for rapid assessment of a
company’s current network architecture and evaluation of the current status of network security. We then
compare this information to the company’s business needs, both current and future, to help them plan a scalable
and secure e-commerce solution. In addition, we offer security policy services that help customers prepare a
policy and plan that transfers their security policy from paper to practice. We provide the following services:
network architecture security assessment; security policy assessment and development; and product and audit
configuration assessment.

Solution Implementation—Our Network Services team offers a full range of rapid-deployment integration
services and training to assist our customers through implementation and integration of our products. Both the
configuration process of a security system and the security products themselves, by their nature, may have an
impact on several areas within a customer’s network. Accordingly, we offer a complete package of product
integration assistance to ensure our customers maximize network uptime and maintain productivity during the
process. We provide the following services: product implementation; product audit and configuration; and
product training.

As part of our Network Services training program, we provide extensive product and network training
online through our Web-based classes. In addition, we offer hands-on training at our training facilities, and these
classes are also available worldwide onsite for our customers and partners. These services help our customers
understand basic and advanced administration rules and tools that enable partners to configure, integrate, and
maintain our products as part of a comprehensive e-business solution.

Solution Support – SecureSupport®—We offer industry leading live answer support services. SecureSupport
has a team of technical support engineers that provide customer support around the clock via email, the Web, or
telephone. Service options are tailored for each of our enterprise gateway security products and customer
requirements. Customers can select the SecureSupport option that best meets their needs. Our support center call
statistics are published and posted to our corporate Web site at www.securecomputing.com.

We designed SecureSupport Online, a tool to assist our customers and channel partners with any problem
they may experience with any of our products. Through this process, technical expertise is offered online through
a searchable knowledge base, viewable support history, and email access. Product patches and release notes can
also be downloaded.

We offer our customers the option to purchase software support and upgrade service for an annual fee. We
provide software updates and technical support through this program.

Customers

Our expanded global footprint now encompasses more than 19,000 customers operating some of the largest
and most sensitive networks and applications in the world. Our partners and customers include the majority of
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the Dow Jones Global 50 Titans and numerous organizations in the Fortune 1000, as well as banking, financial
services, healthcare, real estate, telecommunications, manufacturing, public utilities, schools, and federal, state
and local governments. We have relationships with the largest agencies of the U.S. government. Our customer
list also includes numerous international organizations and foreign governments. Overseas, our customers are
concentrated primarily in Europe, Japan, China, the Pacific Rim, and Latin America.

No customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue in 2006, 2005 or 2004.

Sales

We sell our products and services both directly and indirectly through domestic and international
distributors, value-added resellers, major integrators, and OEMs. For 2006, sales to major end users comprised
19% of total sales, while indirect channel sales comprised 81%. Our sales organization is divided geographically
into the following territories: North America; Federal; Europe, the Middle East and Africa; Asia Pacific; and
Latin America.

Our market strategy promotes our PartnersFirst reseller program, a channel program through which nearly
all of our global indirect business is conducted. The program reflects our commitment to a partner-focused sales
model and enhances access to our products by making them available through over 2,000 resellers via leading
distribution partners and streamlined processes. Our channel program makes the process of doing business with
us simple, while giving partners enhanced abilities to increase revenue.

We have a U.S. federal government sales team and a General Services Administration (GSA) schedule for
our products maintained by a third party, to facilitate government orders. The U.S. government is the world’s
largest buyer of security products and continues to be a strong market for us.

The following table summarizes our products and services revenues (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Revenues:
Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $115,628 $ 79,339 $67,625
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,069 29,836 25,753

$176,697 $109,175 $93,378

Marketing

We market our products to existing customers and prospects worldwide using a variety of integrated
marketing programs. Our marketing team creates and implements marketing campaigns in each of our major
functional market areas: corporate marketing for company and brand awareness, product marketing, and partner
marketing.

By leveraging relationships with our channel partners, we generate sales leads and brand awareness through
customer focused initiatives. Additionally, we work closely with industry analysts and current customers to
understand the trends and needs associated with the enterprise gateway security marketplace. Our research and
experience help drive key marketing initiatives including: direct marketing, Web marketing, print advertising,
customer seminars, Web seminars, and trade shows. We also work closely with outside vendors to help us
pre-qualify leads in order to provide our partners with well qualified prospects.

An active international public relations program ensures that we receive appropriate press coverage for our
various programs and announcements as well as obtain product reviews and speaking engagements. In addition
to our marketing programs, we stimulate interest and demand for our solutions through our corporate Web site,
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channel partner Web sites and other industry-specific Web sites, providing white papers, newsletters, and
technical notes. Several of our senior technical staff contribute articles to industry periodicals as well as abstracts
for presentations they provide to industry specific summits and events, further extending our ability to educate
the industry about e-business security.

Competition

The market for enterprise gateway security is highly competitive and we expect competition to intensify in
the future. Our products compete on the basis of quality of security, ease of installation and management,
scalability, performance and flexibility. Each of our individual products competes with a different group of
competitors and products. Current significant competitors for our existing products include: Check Point
Software Technologies Ltd.; Cisco Systems, Inc.; Fortinet, Inc.; Juniper Networks; EMC Corporation (formerly
RSA Security, Inc.); VASCO Data Security International, Inc.; SonicWall; SurfControl, plc; Blue Coat Systems,
Inc.; Symantec Corporation; Postini, Inc.; Tumbleweed; IronPort Systems, Inc.; and Websense, Inc.

Seasonality

As is typical for many large software companies, a part of our business is seasonal. A slight decline in
product orders is typical in the first quarter of our fiscal year when compared to product orders in the fourth
quarter of the prior fiscal year. In addition, we generally receive a higher volume of orders in the last month of a
quarter. We believe this seasonality primarily reflects customer spending patterns and budget cycles.

Backlog

Our backlog for products at any point in time is not significant since products are shipped upon receipt of
order. We do not believe that our backlog at any particular point in time is indicative of future sales levels. The
timing and volume of customer orders are difficult to forecast because our customers typically require prompt
delivery of products and a majority of our sales are booked and shipped in the same quarter. In addition, sales are
generally made pursuant to standard purchase orders that can be rescheduled, reduced, or canceled prior to
shipment with little or no penalty.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing operations consist primarily of light manufacturing of our software and appliance
products. We use subcontractors to duplicate software media and print user documentation and product
packaging for our software products. We have two different processes for manufacturing our appliances
depending on the product line. We either procure computer servers from major computer manufacturers and then
assemble the final software and hardware products at our facilities in St. Paul, Minnesota or we outsource all
services to third party providers. The third party providers complete the hardware build per our configuration
specifications, perform a final test, and then image and drop ship the product directly to our customers.

Our SafeWord product line includes a small token, available in various designs. We source these tokens
through electronics assembly manufacturers located in China.

The majority of the materials used in our manufacturing operations are industry-standard parts. Typical
materials required are media and media duplication services, user documentation and other printed materials,
product packaging, and computer systems (computer servers, computer peripherals, memory disk drives, and
storage devices).

Research and Development

Our internal engineering staff performs internal development of new products and features. For the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, our research and development expenses were $34.1 million, $16.8
million, and $16.1 million, respectively.
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We intend to keep our products broadly compatible with industry standards, other information security
products and other applications. In addition, we will introduce new products as market demand develops for such
products. We design our products so that they support emerging or evolving security and content standards, such
as Hypertext Transfer Protocol (HTTP), Extensible Markup Language (XML), Simple Mail Transfer Protocol
(SMTP), the Public Key Cryptography Standards (PKCS), IPSec, Lightweight Directory Access Protocol
(LDAP), Internet Protocol Version 6 (IPv6), Secure Sockets Layer (SSL), and others.

Patents and Proprietary Technology

We rely on patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws, employee and third party nondisclosure
agreements, and other methods to protect our proprietary rights. We currently hold a number of U.S. and foreign
patents relating to computer security software and hardware products. We believe that our patents are broad and
fundamental to information security computer products.

Our success depends, in part, upon our proprietary software and security technology. We also rely on trade
secrets and proprietary expertise that we seek to protect, in part, through confidentiality agreements with
employees, consultants, and other parties.

We have used, registered, and/or applied to register certain trademarks and service marks to distinguish
genuine Secure Computing products, technologies and services from those of our competitors in the U.S. and in
foreign countries and jurisdictions. We enforce our trademark, service mark and trade name rights in the U.S. and
abroad.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had 885 employees. Of these employees, 341 were involved in sales and
marketing, 123 in customer support and services, 269 in research and development, 58 in production, 39 in
information technology and 55 in administrative, human resources and finance. None of our employees are
represented by a labor union or is subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We believe that we maintain good
relations with our employees.

Executive Officers

Our executive officers and their ages as of March 12, 2007 are as follows:

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AGE POSITIONWITH SECURE COMPUTING CORPORATION

John E. McNulty 60 Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board
Jay S. Chaudhry 48 Vice Chairman and Chief Strategy Officer
Timothy J. Steinkopf 45 Senior Vice President of Operations and Chief Financial Officer
Vincent M. Schiavo 49 Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales
Michael J. Gallagher 43 Senior Vice President of Product Development
Mary K. Budge 51 Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel
Dr. Paul Q. Judge 30 Chief Technology Officer
Atri Chatterjee 44 Senior Vice President of Marketing

JOHN E. MCNULTY is our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. McNulty first joined us
as President and Chief Operating Officer in May 1999 and assumed the positions of Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer in July 1999. From 1997 until joining us, he served as Senior Vice President of Sales,
Services, and Business Development at Genesys Telecommunications Laboratories. Mr. McNulty was also
previously with Intel Corporation, where he held a number of positions, including Director of Marketing and
Business Development for the Enterprise Server Group, which he launched.
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JAY S. CHAUDHRY is our Vice Chairman and Chief Strategy Officer. Mr. Chaudhry joined us in August
2006 as a result of our acquisition of CipherTrust, Inc. which he founded in 2000 and where he served as Chief
Executive Officer. Prior to that, his experience includes sales, marketing and engineering experience with IBM,
NCR and Unisys Corporation, and the successful launch of several technology companies.

TIMOTHY J. STEINKOPF is our Senior Vice President of Operations and Chief Financial Officer.
Mr. Steinkopf first joined us as Treasurer and Director of Investor Relations in September 2000 and assumed the
positions of Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in March 2001. Mr. Steinkopf was appointed to Senior
Vice President in January 2002. From 1999 until joining us, he was at Silicon Entertainment, Inc. where his last
position was Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance. He was the Vice President of Finance,
Secretary and Treasurer at Watt/Peterson Inc. from 1991 to 1999. Prior to that, he was at Ernst & Young LLP.

VINCENT M. SCHIAVO is our Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales. Mr. Schiavo joined us in April
2001. From 1998 until joining us, he served as President of PolyServe, Inc. Prior to that he served as Vice
President of Worldwide Sales at Sonic Solutions and in various other sales management roles at Radius, Apple
Computer and Data General Corporation.

MICHAEL J. GALLAGHER is our Senior Vice President of Product Development. Mr. Gallagher rejoined
us as Vice President and General Manager of our Network Security Division in 1999 and assumed the position of
Senior Vice President of Product Development in August 2003. From 1997 until rejoining us, he was the Vice
President of Software and Systems Engineering at Datakey. In 1996 and into 1997, he was employed by us and
was responsible for management of several firewall and security initiatives. Prior to that he held various software
engineering and technical management positions with increasing responsibility at Unisys Corporation.

MARY K. BUDGE is our Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel. Ms. Budge joined us in
November 1996 as corporate counsel and was appointed Senior Vice President in February 2005. Prior to joining
us, she was an attorney for Schwegman, Lundberg, Woessner & Kluth where she specialized in trademark and
copyright law. Ms. Budge is a member of the Minnesota Bar Association and the American Corporate Counsel
Association.

DR. PAUL Q. JUDGE is our Chief Technology Officer. Mr. Judge joined us in August 2006 as a result of
our acquisition of CipherTrust, Inc., where he served as Chief Technology Officer since 2000. Prior to that, he
worked with IBM and NASA.

ATRI CHATTERJEE is our Senior Vice President of Marketing. Mr. Chatterjee joined us in August 2006 as
a result of our acquisition of CipherTrust, Inc., where he served as Senior Vice President of Marketing since
April 2006. From September 2003 until joining CipherTrust, he co-founded Mercora and served as the Vice
President of Marketing and Business Development. In 2001 and into 2003, he served as the Vice President of
Marketing and Business Development for McAfee.

None of the executive officers are related to each other or to any other director of Secure Computing.

Other

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports are available, free of charge, on our website at www.securecomputing.com as soon
as reasonably practicable after they are filed with the SEC.

The public may also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room
at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of
the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains a website at
www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers,
such as us, that file electronically with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following important factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those
indicated by forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and presented elsewhere by
us from time to time.

We may be unable to integrate our operations successfully and realize all of the anticipated benefits of the
mergers with CipherTrust and CyberGuard. Our mergers with CipherTrust and CyberGuard involve the
integration of companies that previously have operated independently, which is a complex, costly and time-
consuming process. The difficulties of combining the companies’ operations include, among other things:

• Coordinating geographically disparate organizations, systems and facilities;

• Integrating personnel with diverse business backgrounds;

• Consolidating corporate and administrative functions;

• Consolidating research and development, and manufacturing operations;

• Coordinating sales and marketing functions;

• Retaining key employees; and

• Preserving the research and development, collaboration, distribution, marketing, promotion and other
important relationships of the companies.

The process of integrating operations could cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities
of the combined company’s business and the loss of key personnel. The diversion of management’s attention and
any delays or difficulties encountered in connection with the merger and the integration of the two companies’
operations could harm the business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects of the combined
company after the mergers. We believe that the operation integration of CyberGuard is essentially complete.
However, as of December 31, 2006, we have only twelve months of combined operations, and we may, in the
future, encounter again any or all of the difficulties in operation integration we have faced in the period since the
merger with CyberGuard, particularly due to the ongoing integration of CipherTrust. We expect the integration of
CipherTrust to be completed in 2007.

We have experienced operating losses in the past and may experience operating losses in the future. In
2006 we incurred operating profit of $769,000 in the quarter ended March 31, 2006 and operating losses of $2.7
million, $6.3 million, and $9.5 million in the quarters ended June 30, 2006, September 30, 2006, and
December 31, 2006, respectively. In 2005 we had continuing operating profit, although we have incurred
operating losses in the past. If we are unable to attain operating profits in the future, our stock price may decline,
which could cause you to lose part or all of your investment.

In 2006 we were cash flow positive, however, we have experienced negative cash flow in the past and may
experience negative cash flow in the future. If, at that time, sources of financing are not available, we may not
have sufficient cash to satisfy working capital requirements. We believe that we have sufficient financial
resources to satisfy our working capital requirements for at least the next twelve months. We may seek to sell
additional equity or debt securities or obtain an additional credit facility at that time or sooner if our plans change
or if we expend cash sooner than anticipated. Any additional financing may not be available in amounts or on
terms acceptable to us, if at all. Our failure to obtain financing at that time could result in our insolvency and the
loss to investors of their entire investment in our common stock.

If we fail to meet the borrowing requirements under our credit agreement, we may be unable to obtain
necessary short-term financing and if we default on a secured loan, material assets of ours could be subject to
forfeiture. We currently are party to a senior secured credit facility with a syndicate of banks led by Citigroup
and UBS Investment Bank which provides us with a $90.0 million term loan facility, a $20.0 million revolving
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credit facility and a swingline loan sub-facility. As of December 31, 2006, we had $88.0 million of outstanding
indebtedness. Of this indebtedness, approximately $28.0 million bears interest at rates that fluctuate with changes
in certain prevailing interest rates. An increase in interest rates would have a negative impact on our earnings due
to an increase in interest expense. As is typical for credit facilities of this sort, the credit agreement for such
credit facility imposes certain restrictions on us, including limitations on additional indebtedness, capital
expenditures, restricted payments, the incurrence of liens, transactions with affiliates and sales of assets. In
addition, the credit agreement requires us to comply with certain financial covenants, including maintaining
leverage and interest coverage ratios and capital expenditure limitations. We can offer no assurances that we will
be able to comply with such financial covenants when a loan is needed or continue to comply with such
covenants when a loan is outstanding. If we fail to satisfy these covenants or if we are unable to meet the
conditions for borrowing under our credit agreement when funds are required, we could be prevented from
meeting our payment obligations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
conditional and operating results.

Further, our obligations under the credit agreement are secured by substantially all of our material assets,
including real and personal property, inventory, accounts, intellectual property and other intangibles. If we
default under our credit agreement for any reason and are unable to cure the default pursuant to the terms of the
credit agreement, our lenders could take possession of any and all of our assets in which they hold a security
interest, including intellectual property, and dispose of those assets to the extent necessary to pay off our debts,
which could materially harm our business.

Our significant stockholders could have significant influence over us. Warburg Pincus beneficially owns
100% of the outstanding shares of Secure Computing Series A Preferred Stock convertible into approximately
5.7 million shares or 7.0% of Secure Computing common stock on a fully diluted basis. The shares of Series A
Preferred Stock are convertible into shares of our common stock at the holder’s option, at a rate determined by
dividing the aggregate liquidation preference of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock to be converted by $12.75.
This liquidation preference, and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred
Stock, accretes at the rate of 5% per year, compounded semi-annually over time. Subject to certain exceptions
and limitations, the liquidation preference shall accrete for 54 months from the date of issuance, giving Warburg
Pincus approximately 6.7 million shares, or 8.2% of our company on a fully accreted basis. Also, Warburg
Pincus holds a warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock at an initial per share exercise price of
$13.85. Additionally, Warburg Pincus is entitled to nominate a member to our board of directors and the consent
of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock is required for certain corporate actions.

Jay Chaudhry, Vice Chairman of the Board and Chief Strategy Officer, beneficially owns 5,252,636 shares
of Secure Computing common stock, or 6.4% of Secure Computing common stock on a fully diluted basis.
Richard Scott, a member of our Board of Directors, beneficially owns 3,977,431 shares of Secure Computing
common stock, or 4.9% of Secure Computing common stock on a fully diluted basis.

Accordingly, Warburg Pincus, Jay Chaudhry, and Richard Scott could significantly influence the outcome
of any corporate transaction or other matter submitted to the stockholders for approval. The interests of Warburg
Pincus, Jay Chaudhry, and Richard Scott may differ from the interests of other stockholders.

Holders of our Series A Preferred Stock have rights that are senior to those of our Common
Stock. Holders of our Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive benefits not available to holders of our
common stock. These benefits include, but are not limited to, the following:

• beginning July 2010, shares of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive semi-annual
dividends equal to 5.0% of the Series A Preferred Stock liquidation preference per year, which dividend
may be paid in cash or added to the Series A Preferred Stock liquidation preference;

• each share of Series A Preferred Stock has an initial liquidation preference of $100 and the liquidation
preference accretes daily at an annual rate of 5.0%, compounded semi-annually;
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• upon a change of control of our company, Warburg Pincus may elect to (i) convert the shares of Series
A Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock and receive the consideration due to the holders of
Common Stock upon conversion, or (ii) cause us to redeem the Series A Preferred Stock for cash at the
liquidation preference then in effect;

• if a change of control occurs within 5 years of the issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock, the
liquidation preference shall be an amount equal to the liquidation preference then in effect plus a
premium of (i) 15% if the change of control occurs prior to the first anniversary of the issuance of the
Series A Preferred Stock, (ii) 10% if the change of control occurs after the first anniversary of the
issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock but prior to the second anniversary of the issuance of the Series
A Preferred Stock, (iii) 5% if the change of control occurs after the second anniversary of the issuance
of the Series A Preferred Stock but prior to the fourth anniversary of the issuance of the Series A
Preferred Stock or (iv) 1% if the change of control occurs after the fourth anniversary of the issuance of
the Series A Preferred Stock but prior to the fifth anniversary of the issuance of the Series A Preferred
Stock;

• holders of Series A Preferred Stock have rights to acquire additional shares of our capital stock or rights
to purchase property in the event of certain grants, issuances or sales;

• the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock, which initially was $13.51 per share, is subject to
customary broad-based weighted average anti-dilution adjustments and other customary adjustments
upon the issuance of shares of Common Stock below the conversion price, such as the issuance of shares
and options to purchase shares in the CipherTrust acquisition, which resulted in an adjustment to the
conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock to $12.75;

• the approval of holders of majority of the Series A Preferred Stock is separately required to (i) approve
changes to our certificate of incorporation or bylaws that adversely affect Warburg Pincus’s rights,
(ii) adopt any stockholder rights plan that would dilute the economic or voting interest of Warburg
Pincus, (iii) incur certain debt, distribute assets, pay dividends or repurchase securities, (iv) create or
issue any equity security with rights senior to or on parity with the Series A Preferred Stock, (v) increase
the size of our board of directors above nine members and (vi) take any action that adversely affects the
rights, preferences and privileges of the Series A Preferred Stock; and

• for so long as Warburg Pincus and its affiliates owns at least 50% of its shares of Series A Preferred
Stock, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock will have the right, voting as a separate class, to appoint
one member to our board of directors.

The potential increase in sales from our relationships with various vendors of communications, security,
and network management products or managed services may be reduced by requirements to provide volume
price discounts and other allowances and significant costs incurred in customizing our products. Although we
do not intend that such relationships be exclusive, we may be required to enter into an exclusive relationship or
forego a significant sales opportunity. To the extent we become dependent on actions by such parties, we could
be adversely affected if the parties fail to perform as expected. To minimize our risk, we often set minimum
quotas with our customers as a condition of exclusivity.

Competition from companies producing enterprise gateway security products could reduce our sales and
market share. The market for enterprise gateway security products is intensely competitive and characterized
by rapid technological change. We believe that competition in this market is likely to persist and to intensify as a
result of increasing demand for security products. Each of our individual products competes with a different
group of competitors and products. Because the market for our products is highly competitive, it may be difficult
to significantly increase our market share or our market share may actually decline.

Our customers’ purchasing decisions are based heavily upon the quality of the security our products
provide, the ease of installation and management, the ability to increase the numbers of individuals using our
software simultaneously, and the flexibility of our software. If a competitor can offer our customers a better
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solution in these areas or others and we are unable to rapidly offer a competitive product, we may lose customers.
Competitors with greater resources could offer new solutions rapidly and at relatively low costs which could lead
to increased price pressure, reduced margins, and a loss of market share.

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have significantly greater financial, marketing, technical,
and other competitive resources than we have. Our larger actual and potential competitors may be able to
leverage an installed customer base and/or other existing or future enterprise-wide products, adapt more quickly
to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements, or devote greater resources to the
promotion and sale of their products than we can. Additionally, we may lose product sales to these competitors
because of their greater name recognition and reputation among potential customers.

Our future potential competitors could include developers of operating systems or hardware suppliers not
currently offering competitive enterprise gateway security products, including Microsoft, Sun Microsystems,
Inc., IBM, Computer Associates, and Hewlett Packard. If any of those potential competitors begins to offer
enterprise-wide security systems as a component of its hardware, demand for our solutions could decrease.
Ultimately, approaches other than ours may dominate the market for enterprise gateway security products.

In the future, we may also face competition from our competitors and other parties that develop or acquire
enterprise gateway security products based upon approaches that we employ. There are no guarantees that our
approach will dominate the market for enterprise gateway security products. While we believe that we do not
compete against manufacturers of other classes of security products, such as encryption, due to the
complementary functions performed by such other classes, our customers may perceive such other companies as
our competitors.

Consolidation among competitors may erode our market share. Current and potential competitors have
established, or may in the future establish, cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties to
increase the ability of their products to address the needs of our prospective customers. Accordingly, it is
possible that new competitors or alliances may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share. If this were
to occur, it could materially and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

The trend toward multi-function security solutions may result in a consolidation of the market around a
smaller number of vendors that are able to provide the necessary breadth of products and services. In the event
that we are unable to internally develop all of the products needed for a complete, secure e-business solution, we
may need to acquire such technology or be acquired by a larger entity. However, there can be no assurance that,
in the event that we are not able to internally develop all of the products needed for an enterprise-wide security
solution, we will be able to acquire or merge with other entities on terms favorable to us and our stockholders.

The pricing policies of our competitors may impact the overall demand for our products and services and
therefore, impacting our profitability. Some of our competitors are capable of operating at significant losses for
extended periods of time, enabling them to sell their products and services at a lower price. If we do not maintain
competitive pricing, the demand for our products and/or services, as well as our market share, may decline,
having an adverse effect on our business. From time to time, in responding to competitive pressures we lower the
price of our products and services. When this happens, if we are unable to reduce our component costs or
improve operating efficiencies, our margins could be adversely affected.

Other vendors may include products similar to ours in their hardware or software and render our products
obsolete. In the future, vendors of hardware and of operating systems or other software may continue to
enhance their products or bundle separate products to include functions that are currently provided primarily by
enterprise gateway security software. If network security functions become standard features of computer
hardware or of operating system software or other software, our products may become obsolete and
unmarketable, particularly if the quality of these security features is comparable to that of our products.
Furthermore, even if the enterprise gateway security and/or management functions provided as standard features
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by hardware providers or operating systems or other software is more limited than that of our products, our
customers might accept this limited functionality in lieu of purchasing additional software. Sales of our products
would suffer materially if we were then unable to develop new enterprise gateway security and management
products to further enhance operating systems or other software and to replace any obsolete products.

If an OEM customer reduces or delays purchases, our revenue may decline and/or our business could be
adversely affected. We currently have formed relationships with several OEMs including Cisco, Blue Coat,
McAfee, Computer Associates, F5 Networks, Inc. and Network Appliance. If we fail to sell to such OEMs in the
quantities expected, or if any OEM terminates our relationship, this could adversely affect our reputation, the
perception of our products and technology in the marketplace and the growth of our business, and your
investment in our common stock may decline in value.

Technology in the enterprise gateway security market is changing rapidly, and if we fail to develop new
products that are well accepted, our market share will erode. To compete successfully, we must enhance our
existing products and develop and introduce new products in a timely manner. Our net sales and operating results
could be materially affected if we fail to introduce new products on a timely basis. The rate of new enterprise
gateway security product introductions is substantial and security products have relatively short product life
cycles. Our customer requirements and preferences change rapidly. Our net sales and operating results will be
materially affected if the market adopts, as industry standards, solutions other than those we employ.

Denial of our patent applications or invalidation or circumvention of our patents may weaken our ability to
compete in the enterprise gateway security market. While we believe that our pending applications relate to
patentable devices or concepts, there can be no assurances that any pending or future patent applications will be
granted. There is also the risk that a current or future patent, regardless of whether we are an owner or a licensee
of such patent, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. In addition, there are no assurances that the
rights granted under a patent or under licensing agreements will provide competitive advantages to us.

If another party alleges that we infringe its patents or proprietary rights, we may incur substantial litigation
costs. Other than a claim made by Finjan Software Ltd., we are not aware of any third party claims that we or
our products have infringed a patent or other proprietary rights. However, the computer technology market is
characterized by frequent and substantial intellectual property litigation. Intellectual property litigation is
complex and expensive, and the outcome of such litigation is difficult to predict. In the event that a third party
were to make a claim of infringement against us, we could be required to devote substantial resources and
management time to the defense of such claim, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations.

Disclosure of our trade secrets or proprietary information may undermine our competitive
advantages. There can be no assurances that the confidentiality agreements protecting our trade secrets and
proprietary expertise will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any breach, or that our trade
secrets will not otherwise become known to or independently developed by competitors.

If the use of public switched networks such as the Internet does not continue to grow, our market and ability
to sell our products and services may be limited. Our sales also depend upon a robust industry and
infrastructure for providing access to public switched networks, such as the Internet. If the infrastructure or
complementary products necessary to take these networks into viable commercial marketplaces are not
developed or, if developed, these networks do not become and continue to be viable commercial marketplaces,
our net sales and operating results could suffer.

Our reliance on third party manufacturers of hardware components and subassemblies that are used in our
appliances and SafeWord token product lines could cause a delay in our ability to fill orders. We currently
purchase the hardware components for our appliance and Safeword token product lines from several major
suppliers. Delays in receiving components would harm our ability to deliver our products on a timely basis and
net sales and operating results could suffer.
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Our product lines are not diversified beyond providing enterprise gateway security solutions to our
customers, and any drop in the demand for enterprise gateway security products would materially harm our
business. Substantially all of our revenue comes from sales of enterprise gateway security products and related
services. We expect this will continue for the foreseeable future. As a result, if for any reason our sales of these
products and services are impeded, our net sales and operating results will be significantly reduced.

Our stock price is highly volatile, which may cause our investors to lose money and may impair our ability
to raise money, if necessary. The price of our common stock, like that of many technology companies, has
fluctuated widely. During 2006, our stock price ranged from a per share high of $15.29 to a low of $4.82.
Fluctuation in our stock price may cause our investors to lose money and impair our ability to raise additional
capital, if necessary. Factors that may affect stock price volatility include:

• Unexpected fluctuations in operating results;

• Our competitors or us announcing technological innovations or new products;

• General economic conditions and weaknesses in geographic regions of the world;

• Threat of terrorist attacks or acts of war in the U.S. or abroad;

• Developments with respect to our patents or other proprietary rights or those of our competitors;

• Our ability to successfully execute our business plan and compete in the enterprise gateway security
industry;

• Relatively low trading volume;

• Product failures; and

• Analyst reports and media stories.

If our products fail to function properly or are not properly designed, our reputation may be harmed, and
customers may make product liability and warranty claims against us. Our customers rely on our enterprise
gateway security products to prevent unauthorized access to their networks and data transmissions. These
customers include major financial institutions, defense-related government agencies protecting national security
information, and other large organizations. These customers use our products to protect confidential business
information with commercial value far in excess of our net worth. Therefore, if our products malfunction or are
not properly designed, we could face warranty and other legal claims, which may exceed our ability to pay. We
seek to reduce the risk of these losses by attempting to negotiate warranty disclaimers and liability limitation
clauses in our sales agreements. However, these measures may ultimately prove ineffective in limiting our
liability for damages.

In addition to any monetary liability for the failure of our products, an actual or perceived breach of network
or data security at one of our customers could harm the market’s perception of our products and our business.
The harm could occur regardless of whether that breach is attributable to our products.

We also face the more general risk of bugs and other errors in our software. Software products often contain
undetected errors or bugs when first introduced or as new versions are released, and software products or media
may contain undetected viruses. Errors or bugs may also be present in software that we license from third parties
and incorporate into our products. Errors, bugs, or viruses in our products may result in loss of or delay in market
acceptance, recalls of hardware products incorporating the software, or loss of data. Our net sales and operating
results could be materially reduced if we experience delays or difficulties with new product introductions or
product enhancements.

If we lose a significant customer, we will realize smaller profits. We derive a significant portion of our
revenues from a limited number of customers. For example, our top five customers made up 10% of our sales in
2006. If we lose any of these customers or if our revenues from any of these customers are reduced, and we fail
to replace the customer or fail to increase sales from other customers, we will incur smaller profits.
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If we fail to collect amounts due from our customers on a timely basis, our cash flow and operating results
may suffer. Because the timing of our revenues is difficult to predict and our expenses are often difficult to
reduce in the short run, management of our cash flow is very important to us. Like most companies, we anticipate
that a portion of the amounts owed to us will never be paid. However, if our actual collection of amounts owed to
us is less than we have estimated, we will have less cash to fund our operations than we anticipated, and our
financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

In addition, collection of amounts due us from sales to international customers generally takes longer than
for other sales. Therefore, if our sales to international customers increase as a percentage of our total revenue, the
average number of days it takes for us to collect amounts due from our customers may increase. If there is an
increase in the time required for us to collect amounts due us, we will have less cash to fund our operations than
we anticipated. This in turn could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

We have taken and may from time to time take various forms of action to manage the amounts due us from
customers and grant customer discounts in exchange for earlier payment.

Quarterly net sales and operating results depend on the volume and timing of orders received, which may
be affected by large individual transactions and which sometimes are difficult to predict. Our quarterly
operating results may vary significantly depending on a number of other factors, including:

• The timing of the introduction or enhancement of products by us or our competitors;

• The size, timing, and shipment of individual orders;

• Market acceptance of new products;

• Changes in our operating expenses;

• Personnel departures and new hires and the rate at which new personnel become productive;

• Mix of products sold;

• Changes in product pricing;

• Development of our direct and indirect distribution channels;

• Costs incurred when anticipated sales do not occur; and

• General economic conditions.

Sales of our products generally involve a significant commitment of capital by customers, with the attendant
delays frequently associated with large capital expenditures. For these and other reasons, the sales cycle for our
products is typically lengthy and subject to a number of significant risks over which we have little or no control.
We are often required to ship products shortly after we receive orders, and consequently, order backlog, if any, at
the beginning of any period has in the past represented only a small portion, if any, of that period’s expected
revenue. As a result, our product sales in any period substantially depends on orders booked and shipped in that
period. We typically plan our production and inventory levels based on internal forecasts of customer demand,
which are highly unpredictable and can fluctuate substantially.

If customer demand falls below anticipated levels, it could seriously harm our operating results. In addition,
our operating expenses are based on anticipated revenue levels, and a high percentage of our expenses are
generally fixed in the short term. Based on these factors, a small fluctuation in the timing of sales can cause
operating results to vary significantly from period to period.

The Internet may become subject to increased regulation by government agencies. Due to the increasing
popularity and use of the Internet, it is possible that a number of laws and regulations may be adopted with
respect to the Internet, covering issues such as user privacy, pricing and characteristics, and quality of products
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and services. In addition, the adoption of laws or regulations may slow the growth of the Internet, which could in
turn decrease the demand for our products and increase our cost of doing business or otherwise have an adverse
effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents, share rights agreement, and Delaware law could
discourage a takeover or future financing. The terms of our certificate of incorporation and share rights
agreement permit our Board of Directors to issue up to 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock and determine the
price, rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without any further
vote or action by our stockholders.

The Board may authorize the issuance of additional preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that
could materially weaken the voting power or other rights of the holders of our common stock. The issuance of
preferred stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate
purposes could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock.
Further, provisions of Delaware law, our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws, such as a classified board
and limitations on the ability of stockholders to call special meetings, and provisions of our share rights
agreement could delay or make more difficult a merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or other takeover attempts.

The ability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel to develop our products and manage our
business is extremely important, and our failure to do so could harm our business. We believe our success
depends to a large extent upon a number of key technical and management employees. We may be unable to
achieve our sales and operating performance objectives unless we can attract and retain technically qualified and
highly skilled engineers and sales, consulting, technical, financial, operations, marketing, and management
personnel. These personnel are particularly important to our research and development efforts and, as such, we
employ a large number of technical personnel holding advanced degrees and special professional certification.
Competition for qualified personnel is intense, and we expect it to remain so for the foreseeable future. We may
not be successful in retaining our existing key personnel and in attracting and retaining the personnel we require.
Our operating results and our ability to successfully execute our business plan will be adversely affected if we
fail to retain and increase our key employee population.

Our international operations subject us to risks related to doing business in foreign
countries. International sales are a substantial portion of our business. Although all of our sales are payable in
U.S. dollars as of December 31, 2006, several factors could make it difficult for customers from foreign countries
to purchase our products and services or pay us for obligations already incurred. Such factors include:

• Severe economic decline in one of our major foreign markets; and

• Substantial decline in the exchange rate for foreign currencies with respect to the U.S. dollar.

A decline in our international sales or collections of amounts due us from customers could materially affect
our operations and financial conditions. For fiscal year 2006, 39% of our total revenue came from international
sales compared to 38% in 2005. A very large drop in our sales or collections of amounts due us in these specific
countries as a result of recession or other economic or political disturbances would likely harm our net sales and
operating results.

In addition, we face a number of general risks inherent in doing business in international markets including,
among others:

• Unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;

• Tariffs and other trade barriers;

• Legal uncertainty regarding liability;

• Threat of terrorist attacks or acts of war;

24



• Political instability;

• Potentially greater difficulty in collecting amounts due us;

• Longer periods of time to collect amounts due us; and

• A higher rate of piracy of our products in countries with a high incidence of software piracy.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We are currently headquartered in 10,895 square feet of office space in San Jose, California. We have a
facility in St. Paul, Minnesota with 107,344 square feet occupied by production, research and development,
customer support and administration. We have a facility in Alpharetta, Georgia with a square footage of 75,288
that is occupied by research and development, customer support and sales. We have research facilities located in
Concord, California and Deerfield Beach, Florida that occupy 17,240 and 30,148 square feet, respectively. We
have foreign research facilities located in Woolongabong, Australia and Paderborn, Germany that occupy 9,529
square feet and 11,006 square feet, respectively. In support of our U.S. field sales organization, we also lease
8,198 square feet of office space in Reston, Virginia, and 10,102 in Seattle, Washington. We terminated our
operations at the Seattle, Washington facility during the first quarter of 2007 but expect to sublease the facility in
the future. We occupy these premises under leases expiring at various times through the year 2016. We also have
foreign offices in London, England; Sydney, Australia; Munich, Germany; Paris, France; Singapore; Japan;
Dubai; China and Hong Kong. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On June 5, 2006, Finjan Software, Ltd. filed a complaint entitled Finjan Software, Ltd. v. Secure Computing
Corporation in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against Secure Computing
Corporation, CyberGuard Corporation, and Webwasher AG. The complaint alleges that Secure Computing and
its named subsidiaries infringe U.S. Patent No. 6,092,194 (“‘194 Patent”) based on the manufacture, use, and sale
of the Webwasher Secure Content Management suite. Secure Computing denies infringing any valid claims of
the ‘194 Patent. The answer to the complaint was filed on July 26, 2006. Discovery is proceeding.

On January 19, 2007, Rosenbaum Capital, LLC filed a putative securities class action complaint in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of California against us and certain directors and officers of
the company. The alleged plaintiff class includes persons who acquired our stock between May 4, 2006 through
July 11, 2006. The complaint alleges generally that defendants made false and misleading statements about our
business condition and prospects for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2006, in violation of Section 10(b) and
20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rule 10b-5. The complaint seeks unspecified monetary
damages. While there can be no assurance as to the outcome of this or any other litigation we believe there are
meritorious legal and factual defenses to this action and we intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the stockholders during the three months ended December 31, 2006.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the NASDAQ national market under ticker symbol: SCUR. As of March 12,
2007, there were approximately 3,900 registered holders. The number of registered holders represents the number
of shareholders of record plus the number of individual participants in security position listings. We believe,
however, that many beneficial holders of our common stock have registered their shares in nominee or street
name and that there are approximately 14,000 beneficial owners. The low and high sale price of our common
stock during the last eight quarters is as follows:

2006 2005

Quarter High Low High Low

First . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15.29 11.08 10.75 7.38

Second . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11.85 7.65 11.83 8.01

Third . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.68 4.82 12.91 10.32

Fourth . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.27 6.15 14.70 10.74

We have not paid any dividends on our common stock during the periods set forth above. It is presently the
policy of the Board of Directors to retain earnings for use in expanding and developing our business.
Accordingly, we do not anticipate paying dividends on the common stock in the foreseeable future.

Sale of Unregistered Securities

On August 17, 2005, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Warburg Pincus IX, L.P., as
amended December 9, 2005. Pursuant to the terms of the Securities Agreement, we agreed to issue to Warburg
Pincus 700,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and a warrant to purchase 1,000,000 shares of our common
stock in exchange for $70 million, subject to stockholder approval, among other conditions. The shares of Series
A Preferred Stock are convertible at $12.75 a share, and include a 5% accretive dividend. The warrant is
exercisable at a price of $13.85 per share. On January 11, 2006, our stockholders approved the issuance of shares
of Series A Preferred Stock and a warrant to purchase shares of our common stock to Warburg Pincus, and we
issued the shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the warrant on January 12, 2006. The issuance was deemed to
be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 in reliance upon Section 4(2) thereof as transactions
by an issuer not involving any public offering. We filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 which registered
the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock and the common stock
issuable upon exercise of the warrant for resale.

On August 31, 2006, we acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of CipherTrust, Inc., a privately-
held company. The aggregate purchase price was $270.1 million consisting primarily of $188.1 million in cash,
the issuance of 10.0 million shares of common stock valued at $68.1 million, the conversion of outstanding
CipherTrust stock options into options to purchase 2.5 million shares of our common stock with a fair value of
$7.8 million, and direct costs of the acquisition of $6.1 million. The issuance of 10.0 million shares of common
stock was exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
pursuant to Rule 506 of Regulation D of the Securities Act.
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Performance Evaluation

The graph below compares total cumulative stockholders’ return on the common stock for the period from
the close of the NASDAQ Stock Market—U.S. Companies on December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2006, with
the total cumulative return on the Computer Index for the NASDAQ Stock Market—U.S. Companies (the
“Computer Index”) and the Composite Index for the NASDAQ Stock Market (the “Composite Index”) over the
same period. The index level for the graph and table was set to 100 on December 31, 2001 for the common stock,
the Computer Index and the Composite Index and assumes the reinvestment of all dividends.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 and 2004, and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2006 and 2005, are derived from the
audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of
operations data set forth below for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated
balance sheet data at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, are derived from audited consolidated financial
statements which are not included in this Form 10-K. You should read the data set forth below in conjunction
with the financial statements and notes thereto and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31,

(Table in thousands, except per share amounts)
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $176,697 $109,175 $ 93,378 $ 76,213 $61,960
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 127,539 87,126 75,991 63,578 51,654
Net (loss) income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . (27,398) 21,374 12,835 9,290 (5,166)
Net loss from discontinued operations/disposal of AT

division . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (1,034) (1,310)
Net (loss) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (27,398) 21,374 12,835 8,256 (6,476)
Net (loss) income applicable to common
shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (43,551) 21,374 12,835 8,256 (6,476)

Basic (loss) income per share:
Continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.76) 0.59 0.36 0.29 (0.18)
Discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (0.03) (0.04)

Basic (loss) income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.76) $ 0.59 $ 0.36 $ 0.26 $ (0.22)

Diluted (loss) income per share:
Continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.76) 0.57 0.34 0.28 (0.18)
Discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (0.03) (0.04)

Diluted (loss) income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.76) $ 0.57 $ 0.34 $ 0.25 $ (0.22)

BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total assets (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 724,128 171,763 130,914 108,475 60,943
Debt, net of fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85,023 — — — —
Convertible preferred stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65,558 — — — —
Stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 409,741 121,883 91,826 72,014 29,663

(1) Total assets include goodwill from acquisitions of $533.7 million for 2006, $39.2 million for 2005, $39.3
million for 2004, $40.5 million for 2003, and $15.2 million for 2002.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements, including statements regarding our
expectations, beliefs, intentions, or strategies regarding the future. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors, some of which are beyond our control and
difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the
forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertainties are summarized in Item 1A above and in the other
documents we file with the SEC. These forward-looking statements reflect our view only as of the date of this
report. We cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievement. We do not undertake
any obligation to update or correct any forward-looking statements.
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Executive Overview

We are a leading provider of enterprise gateway security solutions. Our best-of-breed portfolio of solutions
provides Web Gateway, Messaging Gateway, and Network Gateway security, as well as Identity and Access
Management that are further differentiated by the proactive protection provided by TrustedSource (global
intelligence).

Our specialized solutions are designed to meet customers’ needs to balance security and accessibility, and to
help them create trusted environments both inside and outside their organizations. Each of our products provides
a complete solution in and of itself, and they also integrate with each other for a more comprehensive, unified,
and centrally managed solution. We have developed a vision for comprehensive security on the enterprise
gateway that embodies the following core design principles: appliance-based delivery; application and content
awareness; centralized policy, management and reporting; bi-directional protection; proactive protection; user
management and education; performance; and resiliency.

In 2005 we embarked on a strategy to significantly increase our presence in the industry and to define and
become the leader in the enterprise gateway security market. We believe that our acquisitions of CyberGuard and
CipherTrust in 2006 have laid a strong foundation for our future success.

Through the CipherTrust acquisition in 2006, we acquired TrustedSource technology and entered the
Messaging Gateway security market. We believe TrustedSource technology is the most precise and
comprehensive Internet host reputation system in the world, and we are rolling this system into many of our
product lines as a key cornerstone of Global Intelligence security. Recognizing that messaging is now a primary
business application in most enterprises, we have implemented a strategy to comprehensively address both
inbound and outbound threats and to help our customers insure compliance with federally mandated requirements
for the protection of sensitive data. Our Messaging Gateway Security products include IronMail, IronIM,
RADAR, and Secure Computing Edge.

Also in 2006, we added the Webwasher Web Gateway security product to our Web Security Gateway
product line through the CyberGuard acquisition. Web Gateway Security appliances protect enterprises from
malware, data leakage, and Internet misuse, while helping to ensure policy enforcement, regulatory compliance,
and a productive application environment.

This year we continued to differentiate our UTM appliance from the competition with demonstrable zero-
hour attack protections on high profile Internet attacks (such as the Sendmail vulnerability in March and
Microsoft Windows MetaFile “WMF” attack in January). We also announced plans to merge our newly-acquired
CyberGuard Firewall/VPN technologies (TSP and Classic) with our Sidewinder G2 Security Appliance in our
next generation UTM appliance that has come to market in the first quarter of 2007. The CyberGuard acquisition
also brought to us a new paradigm in enterprise central management with the Command Center which we will
continue to leverage going forward. We believe Command Center’s ability to do administration, configuration,
monitoring, and management of software updates for a global appliance deployment coupled with our Security
Reporter product’s central reporting, and full out-of-the box compliance reports, continue to ensure that both
medium and large customers see our network gateway appliances as the product of choice.

Early in 2006 we broadened our presence in the authentication market into the IAM space by introducing
our SafeWord SecureWire appliance. SafeWord SecureWire is a new, robust technology that functions as the
access, authentication, and compliance hub for the entire network. By providing secure access management
inside and outside the virtual perimeter, and by consolidating all policies on a single device, SecureWire helps
enable our customers to achieve configuration compliance because only properly configured devices are allowed
to access their networks.

Our Network Gateway Security revenue represented 53% of total revenue and an 87% or $43.3 million
increase over the prior year. The acquired CyberGuard TSP and Classic product lines contributed $44.7 million.
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Our Web Gateway Security revenue represented 26% of total revenue and a 46% or $14.6 million increase over
the prior year. The acquired Webwasher product line contributed $18.4 million. This increase was slightly offset
by a $3.5 million decline in sales of our Bess and Sentian product lines when these products were discontinued in
2006. Our Identity and Access Management revenue represented 17% of total revenue, which is a 9% increase
over the prior year. This increase was driven by sustained demand for high assurance solutions. Messaging
Gateway Security revenue, added through the sales of the acquired CipherTrust product line, represented 4% of
total revenue for the full year 2006. Because we are unable to establish vendor specific objective evidence
(VSOE) of fair value on the CipherTrust product line revenues, the majority of the revenue from those product
lines has been deferred and will be recognized as revenue over the term of the undelivered elements.

Our customers operate some of the largest and most sensitive networks and applications in the world. Our
partners and customers include the majority of the Dow Jones Global 50 Titans and numerous organizations in
the Fortune 1000, as well as banking, financial services, healthcare, telecommunications, manufacturing, public
utilities, schools and federal, state and local governments. We also have close relationships with the largest
agencies in the U.S. government.

International sales accounted for 39% of total revenue during 2006. Major foreign markets for our products
include Europe, Japan, China, the Pacific Rim and Latin America. In each market, we have independent channel
partners responsible for marketing, selling and supporting our products to resellers and end users. In 2006, our
market presence continued to expand through our extensive worldwide network of value-added resellers,
distributors, and OEM partners. These partners generated 81% of our sales in 2006.

Each of our individual products competes with a different group of competitors and products. In this highly
competitive market, characterized by rapid technological change, our customers’ purchasing decisions are based
heavily upon the quality of the security our products provide, the ease of installation and management, and the
scalability and flexibility of our software.

Specific challenges and risks that our product lines face include, but are not limited to: responding to
competitor pricing policies and competitive features; rapid technological change in the network security market;
and risk of bugs and other errors in our software.

On January 11, 2006, we completed our acquisition of CyberGuard Corporation, a leading provider of
network security solutions designed to protect enterprises that use the Internet for electronic commerce and
secure communication, in a stock and cash transaction valued at $310.7 million. This acquisition strengthened
our position as one of the market leaders in Network Gateway Security appliances, and strengthened our position
in the Web Gateway Security space. CyberGuard was a logical fit for Secure Computing, enhancing our strategic
vision and better positioning us in two rapidly growing segments of the security industry. Along with an
expanded customer and partner base, this merger provided us with important competitive advantages in the
Network and Web Gateway Security markets.

On January 12, 2006, we received from Warburg Pincus Private Equity IX, L.P., a global private equity
fund, $70.0 million in proceeds from the issuance of 700,000 of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the
preferred stock), a warrant to acquire 1.0 million shares of our common stock that vested on that date and an
election of a member to our Board of Directors. Based on a quoted market price as of January 12, 2006 and the
fair value of the warrant as determined using the Black-Scholes model, we valued the preferred stock at $62.0
million and the warrant at $8.0 million. The proceeds from this transaction were used to finance most of the cash
portion of the CyberGuard acquisition. On August 31, 2006, the conversion price for the preferred stock was
adjusted from the original price of $13.51 to $12.75 per share and the exercise price for the warrant was adjusted
from the original price of $14.74 to $13.85 per share in accordance with an anti-dilution provision triggered by
the CipherTrust acquisition.

On August 31, 2006, we acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of CipherTrust, Inc., a privately-
held company. The CipherTrust products provide innovative layered security solutions to stop inbound
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messaging threats such as spam, viruses, intrusions and phishing, and protect against outbound policy and
compliance violations associated with sensitive data leakage. The acquired products from CipherTrust include
IronMail, powered by TrustedSource, IronIM, IronMail Edge, IronNet, and RADAR. As a result of the
acquisition we expect to establish ourselves as a leader in the Messaging Gateway Security market. In addition to
protecting corporate network infrastructures, our combined solutions will address the fast-growing Web and
Messaging Gateway security needs.

On August 31, 2006, we entered into a senior secured credit facility with a syndicate of banks led by
Citigroup and UBS Investment Bank. The credit facility provided for a $90.0 million term loan facility, a $20.0
million revolving credit facility, and a swingline loan sub-facility. The proceeds from this transaction were used
to finance a portion of the CipherTrust acquisition. The term loan matures on August 31, 2013 and is payable in
27 scheduled quarterly installments of $225,000 beginning in December 2006 with a final payment of $83.9
million due at maturity. Interest is payable quarterly on the term loan at the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) + 3.25%. The interest rate on the term loan may be adjusted quarterly based on our Leverage Ratio
and range from LIBOR +3.25% to LIBOR +3.00%.

The revolving credit facility matures on August 31, 2012 with interest payable quarterly at LIBOR + 3.25%.
The interest rate on the revolving credit facilities may be adjusted quarterly based on our Leverage Ratio and
range from LIBOR +3.25% to LIBOR +2.75%. The revolving credit facility also requires that we pay an annual
commitment fee of .5%. The annual commitment fee, based on our Leverage Ratio and ranging from .5% to
.375%, is payable quarterly in arrears. The Leverage Ratio is defined as the ratio of (a) consolidated indebtedness
to (b) consolidated adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and other
adjustments as defined in the agreement). The Leverage Ratio will be calculated quarterly on a pro forma basis
that includes the four preceding quarters. The initial Leverage Ratio calculation will be as of December 31, 2006
and cannot exceed the following thresholds over the term of the loan: August 31, 2006 through December 31,
2006 – 4.75 to 1.00; First six months of Fiscal 2007 – 4.00 to 1.00; Last six months of Fiscal 2007 – 3.50 to 1.00;
Fiscal 2008 – 2.50 to 1.0; Fiscal 2009 – 2.25 to 1.00; Fiscal 2010 through maturity – 2.00 to 1.00.

The obligations under the senior secured credit facility are guaranteed by us and are secured by a perfected
security interest in substantially all of our assets. Financing fees incurred in connection with the credit facility
were deferred and are included as a reduction to our long-term debt. These fees are being amortized to interest
expense over the term of the term loan using the effective interest rate method.

The credit facility agreement contains various covenants including limitations on additional indebtedness,
capital expenditures, restricted payments, the incurrence of liens, transactions with affiliates and sales of assets.
In addition, the credit facility requires us to comply with certain financial covenants, including maintaining
leverage and interest coverage ratios and capital expenditure limitations.

We incurred a net loss $27.4 million in 2006 compared to net income of $21.3 million in 2005. The net loss
is a result of costs not incurred in 2005, such as: share-based compensation of $10.6 million, litigation expense of
$2.5 million, amortization of intangible assets of $16.5 million, additional tax expense of $8.9 million and
one-time acquisition related costs and write-off of impaired fixed asset of $2.6 million. In addition, the acquired
and assumed CyberGuard and CipherTrust expenses were higher as a percentage of revenue than our prior year
stand-alone expense rates. Until we are able to establish VSOE on the sales of our CipherTrust product line and
our revenue outpaces our operating expenses, including share-based compensation and amortization of intangible
assets, we expect to generate net losses going forward.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $8.7 million in cash and short-term investments with no outstanding
borrowings on our $20 million revolving credit facility. We generated $36.1 million in cash from operations for
the year. We expect to generate cash during 2007 as we expect billings to continue to grow at a faster rate than
operating expenses.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the statements of operations of our company
expressed as a percentage of revenue:

Year ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Revenues:
Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65% 73% 72%
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35 27 28

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100 100 100
Cost of revenues:

Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18 15 13
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 5 6
Amortization of purchased intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 — —

Total cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28 20 19

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72 80 81
Operating expenses:

Selling and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48 39 44
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 15 17
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 7 7
Amortization of purchased intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 — —
Litigation settlement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 — —

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82 61 68

Operating (loss)/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10) 19 13
Other (expense)/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (—) 2 1

(Loss)/income before tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10) 21 14
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6) (1) —

Net (loss)/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (16%) 20% 14%

Preferred stock accretion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2) — —
Charge from beneficial conversion of preferred stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7) — —

Net (loss)/income applicable to common shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (25%) 20% 14%

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Revenue. Our total revenues increased 62% to $176.7 million in 2006, up from $109.2 million in 2005.
Our product revenues increased 46% to $115.6 million in 2006, up from $79.3 million in 2005. Our service
revenues increased 105% to $61.1 million in 2006, up from $29.8 million in 2005. The increase in total revenues
in 2006 was driven by growth across all product categories. Our Network Gateway Security revenue represented
53% of total revenue and an 87% or $43.3 million increase over the prior year. The acquired CyberGuard TSP
and Classic product lines contributed $44.7 million. Our Web Gateway Security revenue represented 26% of total
revenue and a 46% or $14.6 million increase over the prior year. The acquired Webwasher product line
contributed $18.4 million. This increase was slightly offset by a $3.5 million decline in sales of our Bess and
Sentian products when these products were discontinued in 2006. Our Identity and Access Management revenue
represented 17% of total revenue, which is a 9% increase over the prior year. This increase was driven by
sustained demand for high assurance solutions. Messaging Gateway Security revenue, added through the sales of
the acquired CipherTrust product lines and represented 4% of total revenue for the full year 2006. Because we
are unable to establish VSOE of fair value on the CipherTrust product line revenues, the majority of the revenue
from those product lines has been deferred and will be recognized as revenue over the term of the undelivered
elements.
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Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit. Total cost of revenues, which includes products and services costs and
the amortization of purchased intangibles, increased 124% to $49.2 million in 2006, up from $22.0 million in
2005. This increase is the direct result of the increase in total revenues and the addition of the amortization of
purchased intangibles and share-based compensation. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased from
80% in 2005 to 72% in 2006. Gross profit for products decreased to 68% in 2006 compared to 79% in 2005. This
decline was driven by the amortization of the developed technologies acquired in the CyberGuard and
CipherTrust acquisitions and by the increased sales volume on products containing a hardware component, which
have a lower gross profit margin than our software products. Gross margins were also reduced as more of our
business continues to be transacted with channel partners versus direct to end users. In 2006 sales to our indirect
channel partners comprised 81% of total sales versus 73% of total sales in 2005. Gross profit for services was
81% in 2006 compared to 83% in 2005. The decline in the gross profit rate for services was primarily driven by
increased customer support costs due to share-based compensation and increased headcount and related costs in
2006 compared to 2005.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses consist of selling and marketing, research and development, and
general and administrative expenses, amortization of purchased intangible assets, and non-recurring litigation
settlement costs. Total operating expenses increased 118% to $145.3 million for 2006, up from $66.8 million in
2005. This increase was driven primarily by increased headcount and related costs as a result of the CyberGuard
and CipherTrust acquisitions. To a lesser extent, operating expenses increased as a result of inflationary increases
in payroll and related costs, and increases in allocated corporate costs. As a percentage of revenue, total operating
expenses were 82% for 2006 compared to 61% in 2005. This increase was primarily driven by the inclusion of
costs not incurred in 2005, such as: share-based compensation of $9.6 million, amortization of purchased
intangibles of $10.6 million, litigation settlement expense of $2.5 million, and one-time costs for severance due
to acquisition related restructurings, duplicate and one-time integration costs, facility move costs and the
write-off of an asset that was deemed to be fully impaired as a result of our acquisition of CipherTrust of $2.6
million. In addition, the acquired and assumed CyberGuard and CipherTrust expenses were higher as a
percentage of revenue than our prior year stand-alone expense rates.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions, share-
based compensation and benefits related to personnel engaged in selling and marketing functions, along with
costs related to advertising, promotions, public relations, travel and allocations of corporate costs, which include
information technology, facilities and human resources expenses. Our customer support function, which provides
support, training and installation services, is also responsible for supporting our sales representatives and sales
engineers throughout the sales cycle by providing them and our prospective customers with technical assistance
and, as such, a portion of those costs are included here. Selling and marketing expenses increased 100% to $84.5
million in 2006, up from $42.3 million in 2005. This increase was driven primarily by increased headcount and
related costs along with severance for restructurings as a result of the CyberGuard and CipherTrust acquisitions,
and to a lesser extent inflationary increases in payroll and related costs, share-based compensation costs, the
write-off of an asset that was deemed fully impaired as a result of the CipherTrust acquisition and inflationary
increases in allocated corporate costs. As a percentage of revenue, selling and marketing expenses were 48% in
2006 compared to 39% in 2005. This increase was driven by one-time costs for our acquisitions, share-based
compensation costs, and in addition, the acquired and assumed CyberGuard and CipherTrust expenses were
higher as a percentage of revenue than our prior year stand-alone expense rates.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries, share-based
compensation and benefits for our product development and advanced technology personnel and allocations of
corporate costs, which include information technology, facilities and human resources expenses. Research and
development expenses increased 103% to $34.1 million in 2006, up from $16.8 million in 2005. This increase
was driven primarily by increased headcount and related costs as a result of the CyberGuard and CipherTrust
acquisitions and to a lesser extent inflationary increases in payroll and related costs, share-based compensation
costs, and inflationary increases in allocated corporate costs. As a percentage of revenue, research and
development expenses were 19% for the year compared to 15% in 2005. This increase was driven by share-based
compensation costs and in addition, the acquired and assumed CyberGuard and CipherTrust expense rates were
higher as a percentage of revenue than our prior year stand-alone expenses.
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General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, share-
based compensation, benefits and related expenses for our executive, finance and legal personnel, directors and
officers insurance and allocations of corporate costs, which include information technology, facilities and human
resources expenses. General and administrative expenses increased 89% to $13.6 million in 2006, up from $7.2
million in 2005. This increase was driven primarily by increased headcount and related costs as a result of the
CyberGuard and CipherTrust acquisitions, legal fees, and to a lesser extent inflationary increases in payroll and
related costs, share-based compensation costs, audit fees, and inflationary increases in allocated corporate costs.
As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expenses were 8% in 2006 compared to 7% in 2005. This
increase was primarily due to duplicate costs incurred for the transitional employees due to the acquisitions.

Amortization of Purchased Intangible Assets. Amortization of purchased intangible assets consists of the
amortization of tradenames and customer lists acquired in the CipherTrust and CyberGuard acquisitions,
described in Note 2 and 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, respectively, and to a lesser
extent the N2H2 acquisition in 2003. Amortization of these acquired tradenames and customer lists was $10.6
million, or 6% of revenue, in 2006 compared to $496,000, or less than 1% of revenue, in 2005. This increase is
due to the additional intangibles acquired in the CyberGuard and CipherTrust acquisitions.

Share-Based Compensation Expense. On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including employee
stock options and employee stock purchases based on estimated fair values. Share-based compensation expense
related to stock options, restricted stock and shares purchased under our ESPP under SFAS 123(R) for the year
ended December 31, 2006 was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2006

Cost of product revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 357
Cost of service revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 567
Selling and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,260
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,542
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,830

Total share-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $10,556

There was no share-based compensation expense recognized for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Litigation Settlement. Litigation settlement expense of $2.5 million pertains to a charge related to
litigation brought by the landlord of our former Concord, CA office. This expense represents a judgment in favor
of the plaintiff for $1.1 million and additional costs of $1.4 million we incurred related to damages. The
settlement was paid in July 2006.

Other (Expense)/Income. Other expense was $120,000 in 2006 as compared to other income of $1.6
million in 2005. The decrease is primarily a result of incurred interest expense related to debt assumed for the
CipherTrust acquisition and a decrease in interest income on a decreased average cash balance.

Income Taxes. During 2006, we recorded income tax expense of $9.5 million. Of this $9.5 million income
tax expense, a non-cash expense of $8.5 million is related to a net tax valuation allowance recorded on our net
deferred tax assets. We were unable to benefit from the initial release of valuation allowance on utilized acquired
net operating losses, and needed to provide tax expense for the subsequent valuation allowance reapplied to the
remaining net operating losses. This was a result of changes in circumstances due to recent acquisitions that
caused a change in judgment regarding the realizability of our net deferred tax assets in the fourth quarter. The
remainder of the income tax expense is related to current income tax components such as, alternative minimum
income tax, and state and foreign income taxes. This is compared with $608,000 of income tax expense recorded
in 2005 which consisted of $349,000 for alternative minimum tax expense, $58,000 for state income tax expense
and $201,000 for various foreign income tax expenses.
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Federal alternative minimum tax was provided on the portion of our alternative minimum taxable income
which could not be entirely offset by the alternative tax net operating loss deduction carryforward which we have
available. Similar to 2006, we anticipate that we will be in an alternative minimum taxable income position in
2007. Current tax law provides that part or all of the amount of the alternative minimum tax paid can be carried
forward indefinitely and credited against federal regular tax in future tax years to the extent the regular tax
liability exceeds the alternative minimum tax in those years. For 2006, the reversal of $3.1 million of the tax
valuation allowance related to acquired net operating losses was recorded as a decrease to goodwill in the balance
sheet and not as a benefit to tax expense in the income statement.

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, we have assessed the likelihood that the net deferred tax assets will be
realized. SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires the consideration of a valuation allowance in
all circumstances, if the conclusion is not more likely than not a valuation allowance is required. We have
determined that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets of $24.4 million at December 31, 2006 will be
realized based on our expected future reversals of certain deferred tax liabilities. We have a net deferred tax
liability recorded in our balance sheet that consists primarily of indefinite lived intangible assets that are not
deductible for tax purposes and therefore cannot be used to realize additional reversing deferred tax assets. In
accordance with SFAS No. 109, our remaining noncurrent deferred tax liabilities are netted with our noncurrent
deferred tax assets and are presented as a single amount in our consolidated balance sheet.

Worldwide net operating loss carryforwards totaled approximately $479.5 million at December 31, 2006,
comprised of $456.6 million domestic net operating loss carryforwards and $22.9 million of international net
operating loss carryforwards. These carryforwards are available to offset taxable income through 2026 and will
start to expire in 2011. Of these carryforwards, $208.1 million relates to acquired CyberGuard net operating
losses, $59.6 million relates to acquired N2H2 net operating losses, and $19.4 million relates to acquired
CipherTrust net operating losses. We have provided a complete valuation allowance on primarily all of these
acquired losses are fully valued against, and upon release of the valuation allowance, a portion of the benefit will
go to the balance sheet to reduce goodwill instead of a benefit to the income tax provision. As of December 31,
2006 we have deducted $56.8 million related to stock option exercises. The tax benefit in excess of book expense
from these stock option exercises will be recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital upon utilization of
the net operating losses under the financial statement approach to recognizing the tax benefits associated with
stock option deductions. Of the remaining benefit associated with the carryforwards, approximately $111.3
million has yet to be recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. However, there are no assurances
that the tax benefit of these carryforwards will be available to offset future income tax expense when taxable
income is realized.

As a matter of course, we are regularly audited by federal, state, and foreign tax authorities. From time to
time, these audits result in proposed assessments. During the fourth quarter of 2006, we reached a settlement with
the Internal Revenue Service regarding all assessments proposed with respect to the CipherTrust federal income
tax return for 2004. The Internal Revenue Service has commenced its examination of CipherTrusts federal
income tax returns for 2003 and 2005. In our opinion, the final resolution of these audits will not have a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, liquidity or results of operations. We anticipate the
completion of these field audits during 2007.

Estimates were used in the determination of our provision for income taxes, current income taxes payable,
as well as in our deferred tax asset and liability analysis. These estimates take into account current tax laws and
our interpretation of these current tax laws within the various taxing jurisdictions within which we operate.
Changes in the tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of future audits could impact our
provision for income taxes.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Revenues. Our total revenues increased 17% to $109.2 million in 2005, up from $93.4 million in 2004.
Our product revenues increased 17% to $79.3 million in 2005, up from $67.6 million in 2004. Our service
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revenues increased 16% to $29.8 million in 2005, up from $25.8 million in 2004. The increase in total revenues
in 2005 was driven by growth across all product lines. Our Network Gateway Security revenue (formerly known
as the Sidewinder G2 Firewall product line) increase was due to increased demand for our security appliance.
Our Web Gateway Security revenue (formerly known as the Web filtering product line) increase was due to
continued traction through OEM relationships. The Identity and Access Management revenue (formerly known
as the SafeWord product line) increase was driven by sustained demand for high assurance solutions.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit. Total cost of revenues, which includes products and services costs,
increased 27% to $22.0 million in 2005, up from $17.4 million in 2004. This increase is the direct result of the
increase in total revenues. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased from 81% in 2004 to 80% in 2005.
Gross profit for products decreased to 79% in 2005 compared to 82% in 2004. This decline was driven by
increased sales volume on products containing a hardware component, primarily the SafeWord token sales,
which have a lower gross profit margin than our software products. Gross margins were also reduced as a result
of a larger portion of business being transacted with channel partners versus direct to end users in 2005 as
compared to 2004. Gross profit for services was 83% in 2005 compared to 80% in 2004. The improvement in the
gross profit rate for services was primarily driven by our services revenue growth outpacing the growth of our
services costs in 2005 compared to 2004.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses consist of selling and marketing, research and development, and
general and administrative expenses. Total operating expenses increased 5% to $66.8 million for 2005, up from
$63.8 million in 2004. This increase was driven primarily by an inflationary increase in payroll and related costs
and inflationary increases in corporate costs. As a percentage of revenue, total operating expenses were 61% for
2005 compared to 68% in 2004. This improvement was primarily driven by revenue growth outpacing the growth
of operating expenses during 2005 compared to 2004.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions, and
benefits related to personnel engaged in selling and marketing functions, along with costs related to advertising,
promotions, public relations, travel and allocations of corporate costs, which include information technology,
facilities and human resources expenses. Selling and marketing expenses increased 3% to $42.3 million in 2005,
up from $41.2 million in 2004. This increase was driven primarily by inflationary increases in payroll and related
costs, an increase in commission expense due to expanding revenues, and inflationary increases in allocated
corporate costs. As a percentage of revenue, selling and marketing expenses were 39% in 2005 compared to 44%
in 2004. This improvement was primarily driven by revenue growth outpacing the growth of selling and
marketing expenses during 2005 compared to 2004.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits
for our product development personnel and allocations of corporate costs, which include information technology,
facilities and human resources expenses. Research and development expenses increased 5% to $16.8 million in
2005, up from $16.1 million in 2004. This increase was driven by inflationary increases in payroll, benefits and
allocated corporate costs. As a percentage of revenue, research and development expenses were 15% for the year
compared to 17% in 2004. This improvement was primarily driven by revenue growth outpacing the growth of
research and development expenses during 2005 compared to 2004.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, benefits
and related expenses for our executive, finance and legal personnel, directors and officers insurance and
allocations of corporate costs, which include information technology, facilities and human resources expenses.
General and administrative expenses increased 11% to $7.2 million in 2005, up from $6.5 million in 2004. This
increase was driven primarily by an increase in audit and legal fees, inflationary increases in allocated corporate
costs, and to a lesser extent, inflationary increases in payroll and benefits. As a percentage of revenue, general
and administrative expenses were 7% in both 2005 and 2004. This rate remained consistent compared to prior
year, despite the increase in our general and administrative expenses, due to revenue growth being consistent
with the growth of general and administrative expenses in 2005 compared to 2004.
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Other Income. Other income was $1.6 million in 2005, an increase from $607,000 in 2004. The increase
reflects higher interest rates on higher cash balances in 2005 as compared to 2004.

Income Taxes. We incurred tax expenses of $608,000, consisting of $349,000 for U.S. Federal alternative
minimum tax expense, $58,000 for state income tax expense, and $201,000 for various foreign income taxes, in
2005 compared to no tax expense recognized in 2004. Federal alternative minimum tax was provided for in 2005
on the portion of our alternative minimum taxable income which could not be entirely offset by the alternative
tax net operating loss deduction carry forward which we have available. This is in accordance with applicable tax
law. The tax position provided for in the income tax provisions prior to 2005 did not include alternative
minimum taxable income. Tax expense of $283,000 incurred for various foreign income taxes and $62,000
incurred for state income tax in 2004 was offset by the reversal of a like amount of the previously established
valuation allowance against our deferred tax asset. We have assessed the likelihood that our net deferred tax
assets will be realized. The computations of our deferred tax assets and valuation allowance are based on taxable
income we expect to earn on sales of existing products, and projected interest and other income over the next
three years. Realization of the $3.6 million of net deferred tax assets is dependent upon our ability to generate
sufficient future taxable income and the implementation of tax planning strategies. We have determined that it is
more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized based on expected levels of future taxable
income in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions and the implementation of tax planning strategies. Our
expectations regarding future profitability may change due to future market conditions, changes in tax laws and
other factors. Future taxable income of $9.4 million is required to realize the $3.6 million deferred tax asset at
December 31, 2005. We had total net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $177.7 million at
December 31, 2005. Of these carryforwards, $49.9 million relates to stock option exercises and $59.6 million
relates to acquired N2H2 net operating losses, which currently have a full valuation allowance, and when realized
for financial statement purposes will not result in a reduction in income tax expense. Rather, the benefit from the
stock option exercises will be recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital and the benefit from the N2H2
net operating loss carryforwards will be recorded as a decrease to goodwill. Of the remaining benefit associated
with the carryforwards, approximately $58.8 million have yet to be recognized as a benefit in the consolidated
statement of operations. However, there are no assurances that these carryforwards will be available to offset
future income tax expense when taxable income is realized.

Deferred taxes are required to be measured at the regular tax rate. An analysis recently completed of our
regular tax rate, indicated that our tax rate had changed. Accordingly the deferred tax components, including the
valuation allowance, were adjusted as a result of applying the appropriate rate. The deferred tax components
include the benefit of the alternative tax credit carry forward. See Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements regarding the tax effect of these items in 2005.

Estimates were used in the determination of our provision for income taxes, current income taxes payable,
as well as in our deferred tax asset and liability analysis. These estimates take into account current tax laws and
our interpretation of these current tax laws within the various taxing jurisdictions within which we operate.
Changes in the tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of future audits could impact our
provision for income taxes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2006, our principal source of liquidity was $8.2 million of cash, representing a $41.8
million decrease from December 31, 2005. Our investments decreased $30.7 million from $31.1 million at
December 31, 2005 to $457,000 at December 31, 2006. These decreases were primarily due to $95.0 million in
cash paid directly by us to CipherTrust shareholders for the CipherTrust acquisition, $18.9 million in cash paid
directly by us to CyberGuard shareholders for the CyberGuard acquisition, offset by $36.1 million provided by
operating activities and $8.1 million from the exercise of stock options and sale of common stock through our
employee stock purchase plan (ESPP). At December 31, 2006, we have future payments of $138.5 million on our
debt commitment and net future payments under non-cancelable operating leases of $23.2 million. We expect to
generate cash during 2007 as we expect billings to continue to grow at a faster rate than operating expenses.
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Last year we financed our operations primarily with cash generated from operations, as well as through sales
of our equity securities and borrowings on our credit facility. In 2006, we utilized and paid back $8.5 million on
our $20.0 million revolving credit facility.

Net cash provided by operating activities of $36.1 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006,
was comprised of $41.8 million in net non-cash related expenses, a $43.9 million increase in deferred revenue,
and a $8.4 million increase in accounts payable and accrued payroll offset by a $27.4 million net loss, a $12.1
million increase in accounts receivable, a $4.3 million decrease in accrued expenses and a $14.3 million decrease
in acquisition reserves. Net cash provided by operations was driven by the increase in our billings outpacing the
increase in our operating expenses. Terms for cash collections received from customers and cash payments made
to vendors were consistent with normal business practices.

Net cash used in investing activities of $239.3 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006,
consisted of a $187.7 million cash outlay for the acquisition of CipherTrust, $69.1 million cash outlay for the
acquisition of CyberGuard, and $11.8 million for capital additions, net of $31.0 million in cash received from net
sales/maturities of investments. The capital additions were used for furnishing our new St. Paul, Minnesota
facility, computer equipment and technology upgrades.

Net cash provided by financing activities of $163.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006
consisted primarily of $84.9 million received from debt financing, net of transaction fees of $3.1 million and a
principal repayment of $2.0 million, which was used to finance the CipherTrust acquisition, $69.9 million
received from the issuance of preferred stock, net of transaction fees, which was used to finance the CyberGuard
acquisition, and $8.1 million related to the exercise of stock options and sale of common stock through our ESPP.

We anticipate using available cash to fund growth in operations, invest in capital equipment, acquire
businesses, license technology or products related to our line of business, and make additional payments on our
long-term debt. We expect to spend approximately $12.0 million on capital expenditures in 2007.

A summary of our total contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2006 is as follows (in thousands):

Total

Payments Due by Period

Less Than
One Year

One to
Three Years

Three to
Five Years

After Five
Years

Operating leases, net of subleases . . $ 23,233 $ 5,264 $ 7,419 $ 4,196 $ 6,354
Principal and interest payments on
debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $138,509 $ 7,730 $16,290 $16,877 $ 97,612

Total contractual cash obligations . . . $161,742 $12,994 $23,709 $21,073 $103,966

We believe that we have sufficient financial resources available to fund our current working capital and
capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months. In addition to the cash on hand, we have a
$20.0 million revolving credit facility available pursuant to a credit facility agreement with a syndicate of banks
led by Citigroup and UBS Investment Bank which was signed in August 2006. We intend to utilize the funds
available through the credit facility for general working capital and ongoing corporate purposes as deemed
necessary.

Our credit facility agreement contains various covenants including limitations on additional indebtedness,
capital expenditures, restricted payments, the incurrence of liens, transactions with affiliates and sales of assets.
In addition, the credit facility requires us to comply with certain financial covenants, on a quarterly basis,
including maintaining leverage and interest coverage ratios and capital expenditure limitations. We are in
compliance with all covenants as of December 31, 2006.

Disclosures about Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2006 or 2005.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion of the financial condition and results of operations are based upon the consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The
preparation of our financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of any contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Management regularly reviews its estimates and
assumptions, which are based on historical factors and other factors that are believed to be relevant under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions, estimates, or
conditions.

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are reflective of significant judgments and
uncertainties, and potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. See
Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of the application of these and
other accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition. We derive our revenue primarily from two sources: (i) sales of products, including
hardware, subscriptions, software licenses, and royalties and (ii) sales of services, including maintenance
arrangements to provide upgrades and customer support, professional services, and contracted development
work. We recognize revenue in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, “Software Revenue
Recognition,” as modified by SOP 98-9. Revenue from products is recognized when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collection is probable.
Subscription-based contracts are generally for 12, 24 or 36 months in duration. Subscription revenue along with
maintenance revenue for providing product upgrades and customer support are deferred and recognized ratably
over the service period beginning with the month the subscription or service begins.

When arrangements contain multiple elements and vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value
exists for all undelivered elements, we recognize revenue for the delivered elements using the residual method.
For arrangements containing multiple elements where VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered
elements, we defer revenue for the delivered and undelivered elements and then recognize revenue on all
elements over the service period. In instances where an entire arrangement is deferred due to lack of VSOE of
fair value on an undelivered element, the revenue recognized over the service period is allocated to products and
services revenue based on the value of the elements as presented on the customer’s purchase order which
approximates an allocation proportionate to our list price. We also identify costs (primarily hardware component
costs) that are directly associated with product revenues that have been deferred due to lack of VSOE of fair
value on an undelivered element and we defer these costs at the time of shipment and recognize them as cost of
sales in proportion to the product revenue as it is recognized over the service term.

We sell our products either directly to an end-user, or indirectly through our channel of resellers and
distributors (our channel partners). When selling through our channel we require our channel partners to provide
evidence of end-user sell-through. If we are unable to obtain end-user evidence at the time we fulfill the order
from a channel partner, we do not recognize revenue until the channel partner supplies end-user information, the
product has been shipped, and all other criteria of SOP 97-2 have been met, with the exception of sales to our
distributors who stock our SnapGear product line. We recognize revenue, net of estimated returns, upon shipment
of our SnapGear product line as we have sufficient return history to establish a reserve and we are not able to
receive end-user evidence due to the high-volume sales of this low-price point product.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We make estimates regarding the collectibility of our accounts
receivables. When we evaluate the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful accounts, we consider multiple factors
including historical write-off experience, the need for specific customer reserves, the aging of our receivables,
customer creditworthiness, changes in our customer payment cycles, and current economic trends. Historically,
our allowance for doubtful accounts has been adequate based on actual results. If the financial condition of our
customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
allowances may be required.
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Business Combinations. When we acquire businesses, we allocate the purchase price to tangible assets and
liabilities and identifiable intangible assets acquired. Any residual purchase price is recorded as goodwill. The
allocation of the purchase price requires management to make significant estimates in determining the fair values
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, especially with respect to intangible assets. These estimates are based
on historical experience and information obtained from the management of the acquired companies. These
estimates can include, but are not limited to, the cash flows that an asset is expected to generate in the future, the
appropriate weighted average cost of capital, and the cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset.
These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. In addition, unanticipated events and circumstances
may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates.

We assess the impairment of goodwill annually, or more often if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We evaluate goodwill for impairment by comparing the
fair value of our reporting unit to its carrying value, including the goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. To
determine our reporting unit’s fair value in the current year evaluation, we used a valuation technique based on
multiples of revenue. If management’s estimates of future operating results change, or if there are changes to
other assumptions, the estimate of the fair value of our goodwill could change significantly. Such change could
result in goodwill impairment charges in future periods, which could have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

We assess the impairment of acquired developed technology and other identifiable intangible assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss would be recognized when the sum of the estimated future cash flows expected to result
from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount. Such impairment loss would
be measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. Our cash flow
assumptions are based on historical and forecasted revenue, operating costs, and other relevant factors. If
management’s estimates of future operating results change, or if there are changes to other assumptions, the
estimate of the fair value of our acquired developed technology and other identifiable intangible assets could
change significantly. Such change could result in impairment charges in future periods, which could have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Deferred Tax Assets. We account for income taxes under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
which requires recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of
events that have been included in our financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax
liabilities and assets are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of
assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to
reverse. SFAS No. 109 requires the consideration of a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is “more
likely than not” that some component or all of the benefits of deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Share-Based Compensation. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based employee
compensation plans under the measurement and recognition provisions of Accounting Principles Board
(APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations, as permitted by
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” Accordingly, we recorded no share-based
employee compensation expense for options granted under our current stock option plans during the year ended
December 31, 2005 as all options granted under those plans had exercise prices equal to the fair market value of
our common stock on the date of grant. We also recorded no compensation expense in those periods in
connection with our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) as the purchase price of the stock was not less than
85% of the lower of the fair market value of our common stock at the beginning of each offering period or at the
end of each purchase period. In accordance with SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation – Transition and Disclosure,” we provided pro forma net income and net income per share
disclosures for each period prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” as if we had
applied the fair value-based method in measuring compensation expense for our share-based compensation plans.
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Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), using the
modified prospective transition method. Under that transition method, we recognized compensation expense for
share-based payments that vested during the year ended December 31, 2006 using the following valuation
methods: (a) for share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, January 1, 2006, the grant date
fair value was estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, and (b) for share-based
payments granted on or after January 1, 2006, the grant date fair value was estimated in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Because we elected to use the modified prospective transition method, results
for prior periods have not been restated. In March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 107, “Share-Based Payment,” which provides supplemental implementation
guidance for SFAS No. 123(R). We have applied the provisions of SAB No. 107 in our adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R). We estimate the fair value of stock options granted and the discount offered through our ESPP using
the Black Scholes model, which requires the input of highly subjective assumptions. See Note 10 for information
on the impact of our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and the assumptions we use to calculate the fair value of
share-based employee compensation. In addition, we began offering restricted shares in 2006 and we intend to
continue to do so in the future.

Derivative Instrument. In September 2006, we entered into an interest rate cap agreement which is
required to be accounted for under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including
certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. It requires that an entity
recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure those
instruments at fair value. If certain conditions are met, a derivative may be specifically designated as (a) a hedge
of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm
commitment, (b) a hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows of a forecasted transaction, or (c) a hedge of the
foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an
available-for-sale security, or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted transaction. Our interest rate cap
agreement applies to (b), referred to as a cash flow hedge. For a derivative that is designated as a cash flow hedge
the effective portion of the derivative’s gain or loss is initially reported as a component of other comprehensive
income and subsequently reclassified into earnings when the forecasted transaction affects earnings. The
ineffective portion of the gain or loss is immediately recognized in income.

Inflation

To date, we have not been significantly affected by inflation.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, an Interpretation of SFAS No. 109.” FIN 48 creates a single model to address accounting for uncertainty
in tax positions and clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold a
tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. Specifically under FIN 48,
the tax benefits from an uncertain tax position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based upon the technical merits of the
position. FIN 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. As prescribed in the interpretation, the cumulative effect of applying the provisions of
FIN 48 will be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at January 1, 2007. We will
adopt FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007 as required. We are currently evaluating the potential impact which the
adoption of FIN 48 will have on our financial position, cash flows, and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” SFAS No. 157
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, clarifies the
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definition of fair value within that framework, and expands disclosures about the use of fair value measurements.
SFAS No. 157 is intended to increase consistency and comparability among fair value estimates used in financial
reporting. As such, SFAS No. 157 applies to all other accounting pronouncements that require (or permit) fair
value measurements, except for the measurement of share-based payments. SFAS No. 157 does not apply to
accounting standards that require (or permit) measurements that are similar to, but not intended to represent, fair
value. Fair value, as defined in SFAS No. 157, is the price to sell an asset or transfer a liability and therefore
represents an exit price, not an entry price. The exit price is the price in the principal market in which the
reporting entity would transact. Further, that price is not adjusted for transaction costs. SFAS No. 157 is effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. SFAS No. 157
will be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which it is initially applied. We are
currently assessing the impact of adoption of SFAS No. 157.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUTMARKET RISK

We develop products in the U.S., Australia, and Germany and sell them worldwide. As a result, our
financial results could be affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak
economic conditions in foreign markets. Since our sales are currently priced in U.S. dollars, a strengthening of
the dollar could make our products less competitive in foreign markets and our accounts receivable more difficult
to collect.

We believe that our international entities are subject to risks typical of any international entity, including,
but not limited to: differing economic conditions, changes in political climate, differing tax structures, other
regulations and restrictions, and foreign exchange rate volatility. Accordingly, our future results could be
materially adversely impacted by changes in these or other factors.

We are exposed to market risk from changes in the interest rates on certain outstanding debt. As of
December 31, 2006, we had $88.0 million of outstanding indebtedness. Of this indebtedness, approximately
$28.0 million bears interest at rates that fluctuate with changes in certain prevailing interest rates. Based on the
average outstanding debt for fiscal 2006, a 100 basis point change in interest rates would change interest expense
by approximately $300,000 in fiscal 2007.

We also hold an equity interest in a privately held technology company. This investment was recorded at
cost and is reported in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2006 this investment
had a carrying value of $2.7 million.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our financial statements required by this item are set forth as a separate section of this report. See Part IV,
Item 15 of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTSWITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management of our company is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective disclosure controls
and procedures, as defined under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. At
December 31, 2006, an evaluation was performed, under the supervision and with the participation of
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive
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Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of December 31, 2006, our disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective at the reasonable assurance level, as a result of a material weakness in the internal
controls related to accounting for income taxes, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period required by the
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and accumulated and communicated to management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31, 2006, there have been no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting, except those relating to the acquisition of CipherTrust, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and the
material weakness indentified below. See Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
in Item 15 for discussion of the acquisition and related financial data. We are in the process of integrating the
CipherTrust operations and will be incorporating these operations as part of our internal controls. However, for
purposes of this evaluation, the impact of this acquisition on our internal controls over financial reporting has
been excluded.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. Internal control over financial reporting includes those written
policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America;

• provide reasonable assurance that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with
authorization of our management and directors; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting includes the controls themselves, monitoring and internal auditing
practices and actions taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness in internal control over financial reporting is a significant deficiency (within the
meaning of PCAOB Auditing Standard No. 2), or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in there
being more than remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will
not be prevented or detected by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
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Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrated Framework. Management’s
assessment included an evaluation of the design of our internal control over financial reporting and testing of the
operational effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. Management reviewed the results of its
assessment with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Based on this assessment, management identified, as of December 31, 2006, a material weakness existed in
the company’s internal control over financial reporting related to the accounting for income taxes. There were
ineffective controls relating to the review of our year-end tax provision, including review of the tax technical
accounting items where our outside tax consultants typically provide input. This control deficiency resulted in a
material misstatement of various income tax balances that was not prevented or detected by management. As a
result, material errors in accounting for income taxes occurred, which were corrected prior to the issuance of the
annual financial statements. Accordingly management has determined this control deficiency constitutes a
material weakness.

Due to the material weakness described above, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2006, the
Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting related to accounting for income taxes was not
effective based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 excluded the business operations of CipherTrust, Inc., acquired on August 31, 2006. The
acquired business operations excluded represent $66.0 million and $19.1 million of total and net assets,
respectively, and $7.1 million of revenues of our related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2006.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
as stated in their report which is included herein on page 78.

Remediation Plan for Material Weakness in Accounting for Income Taxes

In 2006 we experienced an increased level of complexity in our accounting for income taxes as the result of
the CyberGuard and CipherTrust acquisitions which occurred during the year. As a result of this increased
complexity we have engaged our outside tax consultants to assist in the review of our tax provision in order for
us to have effective review controls over our accounting for income taxes. The review of our tax provision
workpapers for the period ended December 31, 2006 was ineffective and the review by our outside tax
consultants did not occur, resulting in a material weakness. To remediate the identified material weakness,
management plans to ensure that the appropriate levels of review by management and involvement of outside tax
consultants will take place in a timely manner in future periods.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Incorporated herein by reference is the information under the heading “Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and “Committees of the Board of Directors,” in our Proxy Statement
to be filed on or about March 30, 2007. See also Part I, Item 1, “Executive Officers” of this Form 10-K.

We maintain a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all our employees. We have also adopted
a Code of Ethics for Finance that is applicable to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Vice
President of Finance, and finance personnel performing functions related to financial reporting. A copy of our
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and our Code of Ethics for Finance, as well as our corporate governance
guidelines and the committee charters for each of the committees of the Board of Directors, can be obtained from
our Internet website at www.securecomputing.com under the Investor Relations page and will be made
available free of charge to any shareholder upon request. We intend to disclose any waivers from, or amendments
to, the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Code of Ethics for Finance by posting a description of such
waiver or amendment on our Internet website. However, we have never granted a waiver from either the Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics and Code of Ethics for Finance.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing in our Proxy Statement which we anticipate
filing on or about March 30, 2007, under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis (CD&A),” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Summary Compensation Table,” “2006 Grants of
Plan-Based Awards,” “2006 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End,” “2006 Option Exercises and Stock
Vested,” “Director Compensation,” and “2006 Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the heading “Security Ownership of
Principal Stockholders and Management” in our Proxy Statement that we anticipate filing on or about March 30,
2007.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information regarding securities authorized for issuance under equity
compensation plans:

Plan category

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation

plans

Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholders (1)(2)(3)(4)(5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,182,418 $9.92 2,367,523

Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholders (6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,678,134 4.97 510,197

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,860,552 $8.84 2,877,720

(1) In September 1995, our Board of Directors and stockholders approved our 1995 Omnibus Stock Plan. Under
the terms of this Plan, key employees and non-employees may be granted options to purchase up to
11,494,131 shares of our Common Stock. The majority of options granted under this plan have ten year
terms and vest either annually over three years, or fully vest at the end of three years. Beginning in 2003, all
new stock options granted under this plan vest 25% after the first year and then monthly over the following
three years. This plan expired in September 2005.
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(2) In connection with our acquisition of N2H2, Inc. in October 2003, we assumed all of the outstanding N2H2
stock options under the 1997 Stock Option Plan, 1999 Stock Option Plan, 1999 Non-Employee Director
Plan, 1999/2000 Transition Plan, the 2000 Stock Option Plan, and the Howard Philip Welt Plan (the “N2H2
Plans”), which were converted into options to purchase approximately 420,000 shares of our common stock.
All stock options assumed were exercisable and vested. These options were assumed at prices between
$1.55 and $258.63 per share, with a weighted average exercise price of $9.45 per share. The options granted
under these plans have ten year terms and vest 25% after the first year and then monthly over the following
three years.

(3) In connection with our acquisition of CyberGuard in January 2006, we assumed all of the outstanding
CyberGuard stock options under the 1994 and 1998 Stock Option Plans which were converted into options
to purchase 3,039,545 shares of our common stock. All outstanding stock options assumed were exercisable
and vested. These options were assumed at prices between $1.56 and $15.07 per share, with a weighted
average exercise price of $7.21 per share. The options granted under these plans, since the acquisition, have
ten year terms and vest 25% after the first year and then monthly over the following three years.

(4) In July 2002, our Board of Directors and Compensation Committee approved our 2002 Stock Incentive
Plan. In September 2005, our Board of Directors and Compensation Committee approved an amendment
and restatement of our 2002 Stock Incentive Plan. Our stockholders approved the amendment and
restatement on January 11, 2006. Under the terms of this Plan, key employees and non-employees may be
granted options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other similar
types of stock awards to purchase up to 6,500,000 shares of our Common Stock. The options granted in
2002 have ten year terms and vest either annually over three years, or fully vest at the end of three years.
Beginning in 2003, all options granted under this plan vest 25% after the first year and then monthly over
the following three years for employees. Restricted stock awards vest 25% after the first year, then quarterly
thereafter over the following three years, unless otherwise approved by the Compensation Committee. All
awards granted to non-employee directors vest 100% after the first year.

(5) In connection with our acquisition of CyberGuard in January 2006, we issued a warrant to purchase
1,000,000 shares of our Common Stock pursuant to a securities purchase agreement with Warburg Pincus.
The warrant is exercisable at $13.85 per share.

(6) In connection with our acquisition of CipherTrust in August 2006, we assumed all of the outstanding
CipherTrust stock options under the 2000 Stock Option Plan which were converted into options to purchase
2,543,662 shares of our common stock. All outstanding stock options assumed were unvested and have
seven-year terms. These options were assumed at prices between $0.01 and $6.19 per share, with a weighted
average exercise price of $2.88 per share. After the date of acquisition, the options granted under these plans
have ten year terms and vest 25% after the first year and then monthly over the following three years.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the heading “Certain Transactions” in
our Proxy Statement that we anticipate filing on or about March 30, 2007.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated herein by reference is the information appearing under the heading “Relationship with
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement that we anticipate filing on or about
March 30, 2007.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – Section 404

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule:

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. Such schedule should be read in conjunction
with the consolidated financial statements. All other supplemental schedules are omitted
because of the absence of conditions under which they are required.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

On November 14, 2006, we filed an Amendment No. 1 on Form 8-K/A which amends and supplements the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by us on September 7, 2006 pursuant to Item 2.01, “Completion of Acquisition
or Disposition of Assets,” announcing that on August 31, 2006, we completed the purchase of substantially all of
the assets of CipherTrust, Inc. This Amendment No. 1 was filed to include the financial information pursuant to
Item 9.01, “Financial Statements and Exhibits.”

(c) Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006:

Exhibit Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 28, 2003, among Secure Computing Corporation,
Nitro Acquisition Corp., and N2H2, Inc. is incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to
our Registration Statement of Form S-4 (Registration Number 333-107804) filed with the SEC on
August 8, 2003.

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 17, 2005, by and among Secure Computing
Corporation, Bailey Acquisition Corp., and CyberGuard Corporation is incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 19, 2005.

2.3 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 11, 2006, by and among Secure Computing
Corporation, Peach Acquisition Corp., and CipherTrust, Inc. is incorporated by reference to Exhibit
2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 13, 2006.

2.4 First Amendment, dated July 14, 2006, to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 11,
2006, by and among Secure Computing Corporation, Peach Acquisition Corp., and CipherTrust, Inc.
is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
July 18, 2006.
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Exhibit Description

2.5 Second Amendment, dated August 1, 2006, to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 11,
2006, by and among Secure Computing Corporation, Peach Acquisition Corp., and CipherTrust, Inc.
is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
August 7, 2006.

2.6 Third Amendment, dated August 30, 2006, to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 11,
2006, by and among Secure Computing Corporation, Peach Acquisition Corp., and CipherTrust, Inc.
is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
September 28, 2006.

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation, effective March 6, 1996, as amended by the Certificate of
Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation effective December 11, 1988, the Certificate of
Designations of Series E 4% Cumulative Preferred Stock effective January 26, 2000; and the
Certificate of Designations of Series F 4% Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock effective June 30,
2000 is incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to our Amended Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2000.

3.2 By-Laws of the Registrant are incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (Registration Number 33-97838).

3.3 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
August 19, 2005.

4.1 Specimen of common stock certificate is incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit to
Amendment No. 2 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration Number 33-97838).

4.2 Amended and Restated 1995 Omnibus Stock Plan is incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.1 to
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 8, 1999.

4.3 2002 Stock Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our Registration Statement
on Form S-8 (Registration Number 333-115583) filed with the SEC on January 19, 2006.

4.4 CyberGuard Corporation Stock Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
CyberGuard Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration Number 33-88448) filed
with the SEC on January 13, 1995.

4.5 CyberGuard Corporation Third Amended and Restated Employee Stock Option Plan is incorporated
by reference to CyberGuard Corporation’s Proxy Statement filed on December 13, 2003.

4.6 Warrant by and among Secure Computing Corporation and Warburg Pincus IX, L.P. is incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 19,
2005.

4.7 CipherTrust, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan.

10.1 Employment Agreement with John McNulty is incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit
of our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 1999.

10.2 Employment Agreement with Timothy Steinkopf is incorporated by reference to the corresponding
exhibit of our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001.

10.3 Employment Agreement with Vince Schiavo is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our
Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001.

10.4 Employment Agreement with Michael Gallagher is incorporated by reference to the corresponding
exhibit of our Annual Report of Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2004.

10.5 Employment Agreement with Mary Budge is incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit
of our Annual Report of Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2004.
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Exhibit Description

10.6 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2005, by and among Secure Computing
Corporation and Warburg Pincus IX, L.P. is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 19, 2005.

10.7 Amendment No. 1 to the Securities Purchase Agreement by and among Secure Computing
Corporation and Warburg Pincus IX, L.P. dated December 9, 2005 is incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 13, 2005.

10.8 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company, and Cary Davis dated January 31, 2006;
Robert J. Frankenberg dated January 31, 2006; James Jordan dated February 1, 2006; John McNulty
dated February 1, 2006; Stephen Puricelli dated January 31, 2006; Eric Rundquist dated January 31,
2006; Richard Scott dated January 31, 2006; and Alexander Zakupowsky, Jr. dated February 1, 2006
is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
January 31, 2006.

10.9 Employment Agreement with Jay Chaudhry is incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit
of our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006.

10.10 Employment Agreement with Atri Chatterjee is incorporated by reference to the corresponding
exhibit of our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006.

10.11 Employment Agreement with Paul Judge is incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit of
our Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006.

10.12 Senior Secured Credit Facilities Commitment Letter, dated as of July 11, 2006, from Citigroup, is
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
July 13, 2006.

10.13 Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Facilities Commitment Letter, dated as of July 14,
2006, from Citigroup, is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on July 18, 2006.

10.14 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement—Secure Computing Corporation 2002 Stock Incentive
Plan.

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

24.1 Power of Attorney (See page 81)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification by Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification by Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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SECURE COMPUTING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
December 31,

2006
December 31,

2005

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,249 $ 50,039
Investments and restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 457 31,140
Accounts receivable (net of reserves of 2006 - $1,427; 2005 - $272) . . . . . . . . . . 63,636 29,795
Inventory (net of reserves of 2006 - $472; 2005 - $264) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,078 2,174
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,604
Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,948 4,869

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90,368 121,621

Property and equipment
Computer equipment and software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,605 12,490
Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,897 326
Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,795 1,093

28,297 13,909
Accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,997) (10,068)

14,300 3,841
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 533,659 39,230
Intangible assets (net of accumulated amortization of 2006 - $18,782;
2005 -$1,974) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78,388 1,814

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,413 5,257

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 724,128 $171,763

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12,442 $ 2,997
Accrued payroll . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,035 4,690
Accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,365 2,377
Acquisition reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,418 389
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 86,612 29,097

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118,872 39,550

Acquisition reserves, net of current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,591 364
Deferred revenue, net of current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,671 9,966
Deferred tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,672 —
Debt, net of fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85,023 —

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 248,829 49,880

Convertible preferred stock, par value $.01 per share:
Authorized – 2,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding shares –

December 31, 2006 – 700,000 and 2005 – none . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65,558 —

Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, par value $.01 per share:
Authorized – 100,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding shares –
December 31, 2006 – 65,008,509 and December 31, 2005 – 37,021,089 . . . . . 651 370

Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 538,616 205,970
Accumulated deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (127,249) (83,698)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,277) (759)

Total stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 409,741 121,883

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 724,128 $171,763

See accompanying notes.
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SECURE COMPUTING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Revenue
Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $115,628 $ 79,339 $67,625
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,069 29,836 25,753

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 176,697 109,175 93,378

Cost of revenues
Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,540 16,876 12,335
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,756 5,173 5,052
Amortization of purchased intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,862 — —

Total cost of revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49,158 22,049 17,387

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 127,539 87,126 75,991

Operating expenses
Selling and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 84,505 42,309 41,201
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34,073 16,781 16,106
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,608 7,189 6,456
Amortization of purchased intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,626 496 —
Litigation settlement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,500 — —

145,312 66,775 63,763

Operating (loss)/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,773) 20,351 12,228
Other (expense)/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (120) 1,631 607

(Loss)/income before taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,893) 21,982 12,835
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,505) (608) —

Net (loss)/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (27,398) $ 21,374 $12,835

Preferred stock accretion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,550) — —
Charge from beneficial conversion of preferred stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12,603) — —

Net (loss)/income applicable to common shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (43,551) $ 21,374 $12,835

Basic (loss)/earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.76) $ 0.59 $ 0.36

Weighted average shares outstanding - basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,010 36,338 35,576

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.76) $ 0.57 $ 0.34

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,010 37,709 37,256

See accompanying notes.

51



SECURE COMPUTING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares
Par
Value Shares

Par
Value

BALANCE, December 31, 2003 . . . — — 34,953,772 350 190,090 (117,907) (519) 72,014
Comprehensive income:
Net income for the year . . . . . . — — — — — 12,835 — 12,835
Foreign currency translation
adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — (183) (183)

Unrealized loss on
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — (2) (2)

Total comprehensive income . . . . 12,650
Exercise of employee stock

options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 678,451 6 5,787 — — 5,793
Employee stock purchase plan

activity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 165,472 2 1,367 — — 1,369

BALANCE, December 31, 2004 . . . — — 35,797,695 358 197,244 (105,072) (704) 91,826
Comprehensive income:

Net income for the year . . . . . . — — — — — 21,374 — 21,374
Foreign currency translation
adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — (61) (61)

Unrealized gain on
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — 6 6

Total comprehensive income . . . . 21,319
Exercise of employee stock
options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 1,059,050 10 7,364 — — 7,374

Employee stock purchase plan
activity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 164,344 2 1,362 — — 1,364

BALANCE, December 31, 2005 . . . — $— 37,021,089 $370 $205,970 $ (83,698) $ (759) $121,883
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss for the year . . . . . . . . . — — — — — (27,398) — (27,398)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — (1,539) (1,539)

Unrealized gain on
investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — 2 2

Unrealized gain on interest rate
cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — 19 19

Total comprehensive loss . . . . . . . (28,916)
Exercise of employee stock

options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 1,418,544 15 6,380 — — 6,395
Employee stock purchase plan

activity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 278,706 3 1,746 — — 1,749
Share-based compensation
expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 10,556 — — 10,556

Issuance of shares for CyberGuard
acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 16,290,170 163 188,313 — — 188,476

Fair value of CyberGuard options
assumed in acquisition . . . . . . . — — — — 29,326 — — 29,326

Beneficial conversion charge for
preferred stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 12,603 (12,603) — —

Preferred stock accretion . . . . . . . — — — — — (3,550) — (3,550)
Issuance of warrants, net of
fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 7,937 — — 7,937

Issuance of shares for CipherTrust
acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 10,000,000 100 68,000 — — 68,100

Fair value of CipherTrust options
assumed in acquisition . . . . . . . — — — — 7,785 — — 7,785

BALANCE, December 31, 2006 . . . — $— 65,008,509 $651 $538,616 $(127,249) $(2,277) $409,741

See accompanying notes.
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SECURE COMPUTING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Operating activities
Net (loss)/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (27,398) $ 21,374 $ 12,835
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss)/income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,554 2,214 2,515
Amortization of intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,011 881 887
Loss on disposals of property and equipment and intangible
assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 999 486 48

Amortization of debt fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 155 — —
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,486 — (345)
Share-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,556 — —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12,112) (9,532) (2,795)
Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 161 621 (1,566)
Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (38) 619 (970)
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,299 419 (133)
Accrued payroll . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,076 630 551
Accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,263) 845 1,191
Acquisition reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14,296) (619) (2,224)
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,933 9,616 4,006

Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36,123 27,554 14,000

Investing activities
Proceeds from sales/maturities of investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,434 13,193 17,528
Purchases of investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15,406) (29,921) (10,355)
Purchase of property and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,841) (2,496) (1,553)
Increase in intangibles and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,785) (4,867) (802)
Cash paid for business acquisitions, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . (256,743) — —

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (239,341) (24,091) 4,818

Financing activities
Proceeds from revolving debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,500 — —
Proceeds from term debt, net of fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 86,868 — —
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and warrant, net of fees . . . . . 69,945 — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,144 8,738 7,162
Repayments of term and revolving debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,500) — —

Net cash provided by investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 162,957 8,738 7,162

Effect of exchange rates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,529) (61) (182)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (41,790) 12,140 25,798
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,039 37,899 12,101

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,249 $ 50,039 $ 37,899

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures:
Common stock issued for purchase of CyberGuard Corporation. . . . . . . . $ 188,476 — —
Common stock issued for purchase of CipherTrust, Inc . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 68,100 — —
Interest paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,711 — —

See accompanying notes.
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SECURE COMPUTING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Secure Computing Corporation is a global leader in enterprise gateway security. Founded in 1989, we have
been securing the connections between people and information for nearly 20 years. We use our broad expertise in
security technology to develop enterprise gateway security solutions that allow organizations to exchange critical
information safely with their customers, partners and employees using trusted connections. Specializing in
delivering enterprise-class solutions that secure Web, email, and network connectivity, we are proud to be the
global security solutions provider to some of the most mission-critical network environments in the world.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Secure Computing and our wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenue primarily from two sources: (i) sales of products, including hardware, subscriptions,
software licenses, and royalties and (ii) sales of services, including maintenance arrangements to provide
upgrades and customer support, professional services, and contracted development work. We recognize revenue
in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as modified by SOP
98-9. Revenue from products is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collection is probable. Subscription-based contracts are generally
for 12, 24 or 36 months in duration. Subscription revenue along with maintenance revenue for providing product
upgrades and customer support are deferred and recognized ratably over the service period beginning with the
month the subscription or service begins.

When arrangements contain multiple elements and vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value
exists for all undelivered elements, we recognize revenue for the delivered elements using the residual method.
For arrangements containing multiple elements where VSOE of fair value does not exist for all undelivered
elements, we defer revenue for the delivered and undelivered elements and then recognize revenue on all
elements over the service period. In instances where an entire arrangement is deferred due to lack of VSOE of
fair value on an undelivered element, the revenue recognized over the service period is allocated to products and
services revenue based on the value of the elements as presented on the customer’s purchase order which
approximates an allocation proportionate to our list price. We also identify costs (primarily hardware component
costs) that are directly associated with product revenues that have been deferred due to lack of VSOE of fair
value on an undelivered element and we defer these costs at the time of shipment and recognize them as cost of
sales in proportion to the product revenue as it is recognized over the service term.

We sell our products either directly to an end-user, or indirectly through our channel of resellers and
distributors (our channel partners). When selling through our channel we require our channel partners to provide
evidence of end-user sell-through. If we are unable to obtain end-user evidence at the time we fulfill the order
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from a channel partner, we do not recognize revenue until the channel partner supplies end-user information, the
product has been shipped, and all other criteria of SOP 97-2 have been met, with the exception of sales to our
distributors who stock our SnapGear product line. We recognize revenue, net of estimated returns, upon shipment
of our SnapGear product line as we have sufficient return history to establish a reserve and we are not able to
receive end-user evidence due to the high-volume sales of this low-price point product.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

We account for investments with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” SFAS No. 115 addresses the
accounting and reporting for investments in fixed maturity securities and for equity securities with readily
determinable fair values. Our short-term investments do not include strategic investments. All of our short-term
investments are classified as available-for-sale and consist of securities with original maturities in excess of 90
days. We consider investments in instruments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Short-term investments are
carried at fair value as determined by quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported
as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. The cost basis of investments that are sold or matured is
determined using the specific identification method. Interest and dividends on investments classified as
available-for-sale, amortization of premiums and discounts on investments and realized gains and losses and
declines in fair value judged to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sale securities are included in other
(expense)/income on the consolidated statements of operations. The gross realized gains and losses for the sale or
maturity of available-for-sale investments are not material in all periods presented.

Derivative Instrument

In September 2006, we entered into an interest rate cap agreement which is required to be accounted for
under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 133
establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments, including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities. It requires that an entity recognize all
derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure those instruments at
fair value. If certain conditions are met, a derivative may be specifically designated as (a) a hedge of the
exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment, (b) a
hedge of the exposure to variable cash flows of a forecasted transaction, or (c) a hedge of the foreign currency
exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation, an unrecognized firm commitment, an available-for-sale
security, or a foreign-currency-denominated forecasted transaction. The interest rate cap agreement applies to (b),
referred to as a cash flow hedge. For a derivative that is designated as a cash flow hedge the effective portion of
the derivative’s gain or loss is initially reported as a component of other comprehensive income or loss (see
“Comprehensive (Loss)/Income” below) and subsequently reclassified into earnings when the forecasted
transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss is immediately recognized in income.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are initially recorded at fair value upon the sale of products or services to our
customers. We make estimates regarding the collectibility of our accounts receivables which we use to record a
provision for doubtful accounts. When we evaluate the adequacy of our allowance for doubtful accounts, we
consider multiple factors including historical write-off experience, the need for specific customer reserves, the
aging of our receivables, customer creditworthiness, changes in our customer payment cycles, and current
economic trends. The provision for doubtful accounts is included in selling and marketing expense on the
consolidated statement of operations. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

55



Equity Investments

We have an equity investment in a privately held company for business and strategic purposes. This
investment is included in other assets on our consolidated balance sheets and is accounted for under the cost
method as we do not have significant influence over the investee. Under the cost method, the investment is
recorded at its initial cost and is periodically reviewed for impairment. Each quarter we assess our compliance
with accounting guidance, including the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No.
(FIN) 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities—An Interpretation of ARB No. 51”, and any impairment
issues. Under FIN 46R, we must consolidate a variable interest entity if we have a variable interest (or
combination of variable interests) in the entity that will absorb a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receive
a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both. Currently, our equity investment is not subject to
consolidation under FIN 46R as we do not have significant influence over this investee and we do not receive a
majority of the returns. During our review for impairment, we examine the investees’ actual and forecasted
operating results, financial position, and liquidity, as well as business/industry factors in assessing whether a
decline in value of an equity investment has occurred that is other-than-temporary. When such a decline in value
is identified, the fair value of the equity investment is estimated based on the preceding factors and an
impairment loss is recognized in interest and other (expense)/income, in the consolidated statements of
operations. During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we did not recognize an impairment loss on
our equity investment.

Inventories

Inventories consist mainly of purchased components and prepaid licenses and are valued at the lower of cost
or market using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method.
Estimated useful lives are 3 years for computer equipment and software and 7 years for furniture and fixtures.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the useful life of the asset or the term of the lease.

Financial Instruments

Carrying amounts of financial instruments held by us, which include cash equivalents, short-term
investments, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate fair value
due to their short-term nature. In the case of our long-term debt, the carrying value of the debt approximates its
fair value due to the fact that it is variable-rate debt that reprices frequently. In addition, our credit standing has
not changed significantly.

Other Current Assets and Other Assets

Other current assets are carried at cost and consist of unbilled receivables, interest receivable, a derivative
instrument, deferred cost of goods sold and prepaid expenses for items such as directors and officers liability
insurance, trade shows, royalties, inventory components and foreign taxes to be either expensed or collected
within 12 months. Other assets are carried at cost and include a strategic equity investment (see Note 16), rent
deposits, and deferred cost of goods sold to be collected or expensed after 12 months.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which requires
recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been
included in our financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are
determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities, using
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enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. SFAS No. 109 requires
the consideration of a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is “more likely than not” that some
component or all of the benefits of deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of patents, trademarks, capitalized software costs, purchased customer and control
lists, purchased tradenames, capitalized developed technology and goodwill, all of which are recorded at cost or
fair value. Patents, trademarks, tradenames, control lists, and capitalized developed technology are amortized
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range up to 17 years. Customer
lists are amortized on an accelerated basis based on an attrition rate driven by the estimated revenue stream from
acquired customers over a five year period. See accounting policy of capitalized software costs below under
Research and Development.

Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at least annually. If
impairment is indicated, a write-down is recorded as an impairment loss in income from operations. An
impairment charge is recognized only when the calculated fair value of a reporting unit, including goodwill, is
less than its carrying amount. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we
completed the required annual impairment tests of goodwill during the fourth quarter of 2006 and 2005 and
determined the fair value to be in excess of the carrying value of these assets. Therefore, goodwill was not
impaired and no impairment charge was reported.

Long-Lived Assets

We review our long-lived assets and identified finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, except for
goodwill as noted above. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of an asset to undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If such
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. There were no such impairments during the
periods presented.

Accrued Expenses

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, accrued expenses consisted of costs related to professional fees, royalties,
foreign taxes and accrued marketing development funds.

Leases and Deferred Rent

We lease all of our office space. Leases are accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 13,
“Accounting for Leases,” as amended, which requires that leases be evaluated and classified as operating or
capital leases for financial reporting purposes. As of December 31, 2006, all of our leases were accounted for as
operating leases. For leases that contain rent escalations, we record the total rent payable during the lease term, as
determined above, on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and record the difference between the rents
paid and the straight-line rent as a deferred rent.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of accounts
receivable. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers, generally require customers to prepay for
maintenance and maintain reserves for potential losses. Our customer base is primarily composed of businesses
throughout the U.S., Europe, Japan, China, the Pacific Rim, and Latin America.
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Interest Rate Risk

We have market risk exposure to changing interest rates primarily as a result of our borrowing activities.
Our objective in managing our exposure to changes in interest rates is to reduce fluctuations in earnings and cash
flows. To achieve these objectives, we use derivative instruments, such as our interest rate cap agreement, to
manage risk exposures when appropriate, based on market conditions. We do not enter into derivative
agreements for trading or other speculative purposes, nor are we a party to any leveraged derivative instrument.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

Foreign assets and liabilities were translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date.
Results of operations were translated using average exchange rates throughout the year. Translation gains or
losses have been reported in other comprehensive (loss)/income as a component of stockholders’ equity.
Cumulative foreign currency translation loss balances were $2.3 million and $757,000 at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. Any gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in the
consolidated statements of operations and are not significant during the periods presented.

Comprehensive (Loss)/Income

The components of our comprehensive (loss)/income are net (loss)/income, foreign currency translation
adjustments, unrealized gain on investments and unrealized gain on our interest rate hedge. Comprehensive
(loss)/income for all periods presented is included in our consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions, share-based compensation and
benefits related to personnel engaged in selling and marketing functions, along with costs related to advertising,
promotions, and public relations. Our customer support function, which provides support, training and
installation services, is also responsible for supporting our sales representatives and sales engineers throughout
the sales cycle by providing them and our prospective customers with technical assistance and, as such, a portion
of these costs are included as selling and marketing expense.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures are charged to operations as incurred. SFAS No. 86, “Accounting
for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed,” requires capitalization of
certain software development costs subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility. Based on our
product development process, technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working model. Costs
that we incur between completion of the working model and the point at which the product is generally available
for sale are capitalized and amortized over their estimated useful life of three years.

Share-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based employee compensation plans under the
measurement and recognition provisions of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation.” Accordingly, we recorded no share-based employee compensation expense for
options granted under our current stock option plans during the year ended December 31, 2005 as all options
granted under those plans had exercise prices equal to the fair market value of our common stock on the date of
grant. We also recorded no compensation expense in those periods in connection with our Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP) as the purchase price of the stock was not less than 85% of the lower of the fair market
value of our common stock at the beginning of each offering period or at the end of each purchase period. In
accordance with SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition
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and Disclosure,” we provided pro forma net income or loss and net income or loss per share disclosures for each
period prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” as if we had applied the fair value-
based method in measuring compensation expense for our share-based compensation plans.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), using the
modified prospective transition method. Under that transition method, we recognized compensation expense for
share-based payments that vested during 2006 using the following valuation methods: (a) for share-based
payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, January 1, 2006, the grant date fair value was estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, and (b) for share-based payments granted on or after
January 1, 2006, the grant date fair value was estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R).
Because we elected to use the modified prospective transition method, results for prior periods have not been
restated. In March 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin
(SAB) No. 107, “Share-Based Payment,” which provides supplemental implementation guidance for SFAS
No. 123(R). We have applied the provisions of SAB No. 107 in our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). See Note 10
for information on the impact of our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and the assumptions we use to calculate the
fair value of share-based compensation.

Net (Loss)/Income Per Share

In accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” basic net (loss)/income per share is computed by
dividing net (loss)/income applicable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss applicable to
common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
net income per share is computed by dividing net income by the combination of dilutive common share
equivalents, which consist of stock options and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, an Interpretation of SFAS No. 109.” FIN 48 creates a single model to address accounting for uncertainty
in tax positions and clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold a
tax position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. Specifically under FIN 48,
the tax benefits from an uncertain tax position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based upon the technical merits of the
position. FIN 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition, measurement, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. As prescribed in the interpretation, the cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN
48 will be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at January 1, 2007. We will
adopt FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007 as required. We are currently evaluating the potential impact which the
adoption of FIN 48 will have on our financial position, cash flows, and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” SFAS No. 157
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, clarifies the
definition of fair value within that framework, and expands disclosures about the use of fair value measurements.
SFAS No. 157 is intended to increase consistency and comparability among fair value estimates used in financial
reporting. As such, SFAS No. 157 applies to all other accounting pronouncements that require (or permit) fair
value measurements, except for the measurement of share-based payments. SFAS No. 157 does not apply to
accounting standards that require (or permit) measurements that are similar to, but not intended to represent, fair
value. Fair value, as defined in SFAS No. 157, is the price to sell an asset or transfer a liability and therefore
represents an exit price, not an entry price. The exit price is the price in the principal market in which the
reporting entity would transact. Further, that price is not adjusted for transaction costs. SFAS No. 157 is effective
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for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. SFAS No. 157
will be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which it is initially applied. We are
currently assessing the impact of adoption of SFAS No. 157.

2. Acquisition of CipherTrust

On August 31, 2006, we acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of CipherTrust, Inc., a privately-
held company. CipherTrust’s products provide innovative layered security solutions to stop inbound messaging
threats such as spam, viruses, intrusions and phishing, and protect against outbound policy and compliance
violations associated with sensitive data leakage. CipherTrust’s products include IronMail, powered by
TrustedSource, IronIM, IronMail Edge, IronNet, and RADAR. As a result of the acquisition we expect to
establish ourselves as a leader in the Messaging Gateway Security market. In addition to protecting corporate
network infrastructures, our combined solutions will address the fast-growing Web and Messaging Gateway
Security needs.

The aggregate purchase price was $270.1 million consisting primarily of $188.1 million in cash, the
issuance of 10.0 million shares of common stock valued at $68.1 million, the conversion of outstanding
CipherTrust stock options into options to purchase 2.5 million shares of our common stock with a fair value of
$7.8 million, and direct costs of the acquisition of $6.1 million. The value of the common shares issued was
determined based on the average market price of our common shares over the period including two days before
and two days after the date that the terms of the acquisition were agreed to and announced. We financed $90.0
million of the CipherTrust acquisition through debt financing obtained from a syndicate of banks led by
Citigroup and UBS Investment Bank. See Note 6 for details on the debt financing. As part of the terms of the
acquisition, we may issue a $10.0 million note to former CipherTrust shareholders that is subject to the
attainment of certain performance conditions to be met by September 30, 2007. Any contingent consideration
earned will be recorded as additional goodwill.

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, the assets and
liabilities acquired were recorded at their estimated fair values at the effective date of the acquisition and the
results of operations have been included in the consolidated statements of operations since the acquisition date.
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill and indefinite lived
trademarks recorded as a result of the acquisition will be subject to an annual impairment test and will not be
amortized.
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The following table summarizes the estimated preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition (in thousands):

As of
August 31, 2006

Cash paid, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(187,647)
Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,399
Property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,474
Other long-term assets and indefinite lived assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,153
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 233,857
Intangible assets subject to amortization:
Intangibles – Customer relationships (60 month useful life) . . . . . 14,298
Intangibles – Developed technology (48 month useful life) . . . . . 21,445

35,743

Total assets acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102,979
Current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,853
Acquisition reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,194
Revenue deferred from ongoing contractual obligations at fair
value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,384

Deferred tax liability – long-term . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,663

Fair value of assets and liabilities assumed and accrued, net . . . . . $ 75,885

We accrued $7.2 million in acquisition related expenses, which included legal and accounting fees, bankers’
fees, severance costs and other related costs, of which $342,000, related to severance costs and legal, accounting
and tax fees, remains as an accrual as of December 31, 2006.

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations on an unaudited proforma basis as if the
acquisitions had taken place at the beginning of the periods presented (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $211,746 $154,591 $130,819
Net loss applicable to common shareholders . . . . . . . . (62,900) (6,732) (5,018)
Basic and diluted loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.99) $ (0.15) $ (0.11)

The unaudited pro forma data gives effect to actual operating results prior to the acquisitions, and
adjustments to reflect interest income foregone, increased intangible amortization, and interest expense for debt
assumed. No effect has been given to cost reductions or operating synergies in this presentation. As a result, the
unaudited pro forma results of operations are for comparative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of
the results that would have been obtained if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of the periods
presented or that may occur in the future.

3. Acquisition of CyberGuard

On January 12, 2006, we acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of CyberGuard Corporation.
CyberGuard provided network security solutions designed to protect enterprises that use the Internet for
electronic commerce and secure communication. CyberGuard’s products included firewall, Virtual Private
Network (VPN), secure content management and security management technologies. This acquisition strengthens
our position as one of the market leaders in Network Gateway Security and strengthens our position in the Web
Gateway Security space. Additionally, we now have a larger presence in the Global 5000 enterprise markets as
well as the U.S. federal government.
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The aggregate purchase price was $310.7 million consisting of the issuance of 16.3 million shares of
common stock valued at $188.5 million, $2.73 in cash issued for each outstanding share of CyberGuard common
stock valued at $88.9 million, the conversion of outstanding CyberGuard stock options into options to purchase
3.0 million shares of our common stock with a value of $29.3 million and direct costs of the acquisition of $4.0
million. The value of the common shares issued was determined based on the average market price of our
common shares over the period including two days before and two days after the date that the terms of the
acquisition were agreed to and announced. We financed $70.0 million of the CyberGuard acquisition through the
issuance of preferred equity securities. See Note 7 for details on the equity financing.

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, the assets and
liabilities acquired were recorded at their estimated fair values at the effective date of the acquisition and the
results of operations have been included in the consolidated statements of operations since the acquisition date.
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill and indefinite lived trademarks recorded as a result of the
acquisition will be subject to an annual impairment test and will not be amortized.

The following table summarizes the preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition (in thousands):

As of
January 12, 2006

Cash paid, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (69,096)
Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,067
Property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,090
Other long-term and indefinite lived assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,570
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 268,314
Intangible assets subject to amortization:
Customer relationships (60 month useful life) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,610
Tradenames (6 month useful life) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 390
Tradenames (12 month useful life) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 290
Acquired developed technology (12 month useful life) . . . . . . . . 2,080
Acquired developed technology (36 month useful life) . . . . . . . . 1,160
Acquired developed technology (48 month useful life) . . . . . . . . 6,930

39,460

Total assets acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 269,405
Current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,325
Acquisition reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,358
Revenue deferred from ongoing contractual obligations at fair
value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,903

Deferred tax liability – long-term . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,017

Fair value of assets and liabilities assumed and accrued, net . . . . $217,802

We accrued $9.4 million in acquisition related expenses, which included legal and accounting fees, excess
capacity costs, directors and officers insurance policy premium, bankers’ fees, severance costs and other costs of
which $2.0 remains as an accrual as of December 31, 2006.
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The following table presents our consolidated results of operations on an unaudited proforma basis as if the
acquisitions had taken place at the beginning of the periods presented (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $178,474 $167,775 $153,118
Net (loss)/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (27,377) 7,850 1,110
Net (loss)/income applicable to common
shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (30,927) 4,197 (2,552)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.54) $ 0.08 $ (0.05)
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.54) $ 0.15 $ (0.05)

The unaudited pro forma data gives effect to actual operating results prior to the acquisitions, and
adjustments to reflect interest income foregone, increased intangible amortization, income taxes, and preferred
stock accretion. No effect has been given to cost reductions or operating synergies in this presentation. As a
result, the unaudited pro forma results of operations are for comparative purposes only and are not necessarily
indicative of the results that would have been obtained if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of the
periods presented or that may occur in the future.

4. Investments

Cash Equivalents, Short-Term Investments and Restricted Cash

Our cash equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2006 2005

Money market funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 42 $ 32,998
Variable rate demand note . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 4,210
Commercial paper . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 12,920
Federal agencies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 999
U.S. treasury bills . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,963
Taxable auction rate securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 22,950
Certificates of deposit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 218 245

Total investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 260 78,285
Amounts classified as cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (47,145)
Restricted cash set aside in bank account . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 197 —

Total short-term investments and restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $457 $ 31,140

All short-term investments are debt securities and mature within one year. Unrealized losses on
available-for-sale investments at December 31, 2006 and 2005 were none and $2,000, respectively and are
reported as a component of other comprehensive (loss)/income in the statement of stockholders’ equity. We have
restricted cash pledged in the form of certificates of deposit and money market funds against our letters of credit
of $205,000 and $40,000, respectively, at December 31, 2006 and in the form of certificates of deposit and
money market funds of $240,000 and $40,000, respectively, at December 31, 2005. Interest income on cash
equivalents, short-term investments and restricted cash was $2.7 million in 2006, prior to the liquidation of
investments and cash equivalents to finance the CipherTrust acquisition, and $1.9 million in 2005.
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Equity Investment in a Privately Held Company

As of December 31, 2006, we held an equity investment with a carrying value of $2.7 million in a privately-
held company. This investment was recorded at cost as we do not have significant influence over the investee and
is classified as other assets on our consolidated balance sheets. This was a related party transaction as discussed
in Note 16.

5. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in goodwill during 2006 and 2005 were as follows (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 39,329
Reversal of N2H2 reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (99)

Balance as of December 31, 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 39,230
Addition due to CyberGuard acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 268,314
Addition due to CipherTrust acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 233,857
Recognition of acquired deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,742)

Balance as of December 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $533,659

As of December 31, 2006, indefinite lived tradenames related to the CipherTrust and CyberGuard
acquisitions were $6.9 million and $10.5 million, respectively.

Identified intangible assets subject to amortization are as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2006 As of December 31, 2005

Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Customer lists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $44,049 $(10,795) $33,254 $1,141 $ (840) $ 301
Tradenames . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 680 (671) 9 — — —
Control lists . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 771 (660) 111 771 (493) 278
Capitalized developed technology . . . . . . . . 31,657 (5,904) 25,753 42 (42) —
Patents and trademarks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,665 (502) 1,163 1,382 (340) 1,042
Capitalized software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 953 (250) 703 452 (259) 193

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $79,775 $(18,782) $60,993 $3,788 $(1,974) $1,814

Total amortization expense was $17.0 million, $881,000 and $887,000 for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Of the total amortization expense, $187,000, $156,000, and $219,000
pertained to capitalized software costs for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004. Estimated
amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years based on current intangible assets is expected to
be $19.1 million, $16.7 million, $14.8 million, $9.1 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

6. Debt

Debt as of December 31, 2006 consists of the following (in thousands):

Secured term loan, due August 31, 2013, LIBOR plus 3.25% . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88,000
Deferred financing fees related to secured term loan, due August 31, 2013 . . . . . . (2,977)

Total debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $85,023
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Senior Secured Credit Facility

On August 31, 2006, we entered into a senior secured credit facility with a syndicate of banks led by
Citigroup and UBS Investment Bank. The credit facility provides for a $90.0 million term loan facility, a $20.0
million revolving credit facility, and a swingline loan sub-facility. The proceeds from this transaction were used
to finance a portion of the CipherTrust acquisition as noted in Note 2 above. The term loan matures on
August 31, 2013 and is payable in 27 scheduled quarterly installments of $225,000 beginning in December 2006
with a final payment of $83.9 million due at maturity. Interest is payable quarterly on the term loan at the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) + 3.25%. The interest rate on the term loan may be adjusted quarterly based
on our Leverage Ratio and range from LIBOR +3.25% to LIBOR +3.00%. The interest rate in effect as of
December 31, 2006 was 8.62%. Including amortization of deferred financing fees, we incurred $2.9 million of
interest expense in 2006 and none in 2005. Our future payment obligations under this credit facility, are as
follows (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less Than
One Year

One to
Three Years

Three to
Five Years

After Five
Years

Principal payments on debt . . . . . . . . $ 88,000 $ — $ 925 $ 1,800 $85,275
Interest payments on debt . . . . . . . . . 50,509 7,730 15,365 15,077 12,337

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $138,509 $7,730 $16,290 $16,877 $97,612

The revolving credit facility matures on August 31, 2012 with interest payable quarterly at LIBOR + 3.25%.
The interest rate on the revolving credit facility may be adjusted quarterly based on our Leverage Ratio and range
from LIBOR +3.25% to LIBOR +2.75%. The revolving credit facility also requires that we pay an annual
commitment fee of .5%. The annual commitment fee, based on our Leverage Ratio and ranging from .5% to
.375%, is payable quarterly in arrears. The Leverage Ratio is defined as the ratio of (a) consolidated indebtedness
to (b) consolidated adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and other
adjustments as defined in the agreement). The Leverage Ratio will be calculated quarterly on a pro forma basis
that includes the four preceding quarters. The initial Leverage Ratio calculation will be as of December 31, 2006
and cannot exceed the following thresholds over the term of the loan: August 31, 2006 through December 31,
2006 – 4.75 to 1.00; First six months of Fiscal 2007 – 4.00 to 1.00; Last six months of Fiscal 2007 – 3.50 to 1.00;
Fiscal 2008 – 2.50 to 1.0; Fiscal 2009 – 2.25 to 1.00; Fiscal 2010 through maturity – 2.00 to 1.00.

The obligations under the senior secured credit facility are guaranteed by us and are secured by a perfected
security interest in substantially all of our assets. Financing fees incurred in connection with the credit facility
were deferred and are included as a reduction to our long-term debt. These fees are being amortized to interest
expense over the term of the term loan using the effective interest rate method.

Debt Covenants

The credit facility agreement contains various covenants including limitations on additional indebtedness,
capital expenditures, restricted payments, the incurrence of liens, transactions with affiliates and sales of assets.
In addition, the credit facility requires us to comply with certain quarterly financial covenants, beginning with the
quarter ended December 31, 2006, including maintaining leverage and interest coverage ratios and capital
expenditure limitations. We are in compliance with all covenants as of December 31, 2006.

Derivative Instrument

We have entered into a 3-month LIBOR interest rate cap agreement to cap the interest rate at 5.5% on $60.0
million, or approximately 67% of the aggregate term loan. The notional amount of the agreement decreases $10.0
million each quarter starting March 30, 2007. The agreement terminates on June 30, 2008. The interest rate cap
agreement is designated as a cash flow hedge and is reflected at fair value in our consolidated balance sheet. The
related gains or losses on this contract are reflected in stockholders’ equity as a component of other
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comprehensive (loss)/income. However, to the extent that this contract is not considered to be perfectly effective
in offsetting the change in the value of the item being hedged, any change in fair value relating to the ineffective
portion of this contract will be immediately recognized in income. The unrealized gain on the interest rate cap
agreement is $19,000 as of December 31, 2006.

7. Equity Financing

On January 12, 2006, we received from Warburg Pincus Private Equity IX, L.P., a global private equity
fund, $70.0 million in gross proceeds from the issuance of 700,000 of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the
preferred stock), a warrant to acquire 1.0 million shares of our common stock and election of a member to our
Board of Directors. Based on a quoted market price as of January 12, 2006 and the fair value of the warrant as
determined using the Black-Scholes model, we valued the preferred stock at $62.0 million and the warrant at
$8.0 million. The proceeds from this transaction were used to finance most of the cash portion of the CyberGuard
acquisition as noted in Note 3 above.

On August 31, 2006, the conversion price for the preferred stock was adjusted from the original price of
$13.51 to $12.75 per share in accordance with an anti-dilution adjustment triggered by the CipherTrust
acquisition. Holders of our preferred stock will be entitled to receive benefits not available to holders of our
common stock. These benefits include, but are not limited to, the following: beginning in July 2010, shares of
preferred stock will be entitled to receive semi-annual dividends, which may be paid in cash or added to the
preferred stock liquidation preference equal to 5% of the preferred stock liquidation preference per year and each
share of preferred stock has an initial liquidation preference of $100 which accretes daily at an annual rate of 5%,
compounded semi-annually, until July 2010.

On August 31, 2006, the exercise price for the warrant was adjusted from the original price of $14.74 to
$13.85 per share also in accordance with an anti-dilution adjustment triggered by the CipherTrust acquisition.
The warrant expires on January 12, 2013. When the market price of our common stock is above their exercise
price, the warrant becomes dilutive and 1.0 million shares are immediately included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share as if the warrant is exercised using the treasury stock method.

The preferred stock was initially reflected on our financial statements at $62.0 million, which is a discount
of $8.0 million from its initial liquidation value of $70.0 million due to the fair value of warrants on the effective
date. The liquidation value of the preferred stock accretes daily at an annual rate of 5%, compounded semi-
annually. This accretion is recorded as a reduction of earnings attributable to common shareholders ratably for a
period of 54 months after date of issuance.

We incurred a beneficial conversion charge of $12.6 million, which was recorded as a reduction in earnings
attributable to common shareholders in 2006, upon the issuance of the preferred stock since the effective
conversion price, after adjusting for the value of the warrants, was less than market price on January 12, 2006,
the date of issuance. However, in August 2005 when the terms of the preferred stock issuance to Warburg Pincus
in the Securities Purchase Agreement were negotiated, the average market price of the common stock was, in
fact, less than the conversion price.

8. Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2006, we have three letter of credit agreements totaling $247,000. One letter of credit
for $205,000 and $240,000, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, is with a bank to secure rental
space for our San Jose, CA office and automatically renews for a one year period each year through March 31,
2008. Two remaining letters of credit totaling $42,000 and $40,000 as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, are to secure business with an international customer, which expire May and August 2008.
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9. Leases

We lease office space for all of our locations. Renewal options exist for our Concord, CA, and St. Paul, MN
offices. Future lease payments for all operating leases, excluding executory costs such as management and
maintenance fees and property tax, are as follows (in thousands):

Future Lease
Obligations Sublease

Net Future Lease
Obligations

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,474 $(210) $ 5,264
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,381 (210) 4,171
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,371 (122) 3,249
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,238 — 2,238
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,957 — 1,957
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,354 — 6,354

$23,775 $(542) $23,233

Rent expense including executory costs, net of sublease income was $5.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006, and $3.9 million for both the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. One of our directors
and officers is Chairman of the Board of Directors and a majority shareholder in AirDefense, Inc. (AirDefense).
In August 2006, we assumed from CipherTrust a sublease agreement with AirDefense, subleasing
approximately 13,997 square feet of the 75,288 square feet leased office space located in Alpharetta, GA. For the
years ending December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009 we expect to receive $210,000, $210,000 and $122,000,
respectively, from AirDefense according to the terms of the sublease agreement. Sublease income is shown on
the consolidated results of operation as a reduction of general and administrative expenses.

10. Share-Based Compensation

Description of Plans

2002 Stock Incentive Plan

Under our 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (2002 Plan), we are permitted to grant incentive and non-qualified
stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other similar types of
stock awards, such as phantom stock rights, to our employees and non-employee directors. There were a total of
6.5 million shares authorized under the 2002 Plan at December 31, 2006. All options granted under the 2002 Plan
through December 31, 2006 have exercise prices equal to the fair market value of our stock on the date of grant.
Options granted under the 2002 Plan have ten-year terms and typically vest 25% after the first year and then
monthly over the following three years. All awards granted to non-employee directors vest 100% after the first
year. Outstanding awards that were originally granted under several predecessor plans also remain in effect in
accordance with their terms. Restricted stock awards vest 25% after the first year, then quarterly thereafter over
the following three years, unless otherwise approved by the Compensation Committee.

1995 Omnibus Stock Option Plan

In September 1995, our Board of Directors and stockholders approved our 1995 Omnibus Stock Plan. The
majority of options granted under this plan had ten year terms and vested either annually over three years, or
fully vested at the end of three years. Beginning in 2003, all new stock options granted under this plan vest 25%
after the first year and then monthly over the following three years. This plan expired in September 2005. As of
December 31, 2006, there were 5.1 million options outstanding under this Plan, of which 380,283 were not yet
vested.
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N2H2 Stock Option Plans

In connection with our acquisition of N2H2 in October 2003, we assumed all of the outstanding N2H2 stock
options under the 1997 Stock Option Plan, 1999 Stock Option Plan, 1999 Non-Employee Director Plan,
1999/2000 Transition Plan, the 2000 Stock Option Plan, and the Howard Philip Welt Plan, which were converted
into options to purchase approximately 420,000 shares of our common stock. All stock options assumed were
exercisable and vested. These options were assumed at prices between $1.55 and $258.63 per share, with a
weighted average exercise price of $10.06 per share. The options granted under these plans, since the acquisition,
have ten year terms and vest 25% after the first year and then monthly over the following three years.

CyberGuard Stock Option Plans

In connection with our acquisition of CyberGuard in January 2006, we assumed all of the outstanding
CyberGuard stock options under the 1994 and 1998 Stock Option Plans which were converted into options to
purchase 3,039,545 shares of our common stock. All outstanding stock options assumed were exercisable and
vested. These options were assumed at prices between $1.56 and $15.07 per share, with a weighted average
exercise price of $7.21 per share. The options granted under these plans, since the acquisition, have ten year
terms and vest 25% after the first year and then monthly over the following three years.

CipherTrust 2000 Stock Option Plan

In connection with our acquisition of CipherTrust in August 2006, we assumed all of the outstanding
CipherTrust stock options under the 2000 Stock Option Plan which were converted into 2,543,662 shares of our
common stock. All outstanding stock options assumed were unvested and have seven-year terms. These options
were assumed at prices between $0.01 and $6.19 per share, with a weighted average exercise price of $2.88 per
share. The options granted under this plan, since the acquisition, have ten year terms and vest 25% after the first
year and then monthly over the following three years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an employee stock purchase plan (ESPP), which enables employees to contribute up to 10% of their
compensation toward the purchase of our common stock at the end of the participation period at a purchase price
equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the common stock on the first or last day of the participation
period. For the fourth quarter of 2006 and the first quarter of 2007, the Board of Directors and the Compensation
Committee have approved to increase the maximum contribution up to 20% of compensation. Common stock
reserved for future employee purchases under the plan totals 589,534 shares at December 31, 2006. Common stock
issued under the plan totaled approximately 279,000 in 2006, 164,000 in 2005 and 165,000 in 2004.

Impact of the Adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)

See Note 1 for a description of our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), on January 1, 2006. A summary of the
share-based compensation expense that we recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006 for stock options, restricted stock and shares purchased under our ESPP is as follows
(in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended
December 31, 2006

Cost of product revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 357
Cost of service revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 567
Selling and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,260
Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,542
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,830

Increase of loss before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $10,556

Increase of basic loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.19)
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Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we presented all tax benefits for deductions resulting from the
exercise of stock options as operating cash flows on our statement of cash flows. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the
cash flows resulting from the tax benefits for tax deductions in excess of the compensation expense recorded for
those options (excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing cash flows. There were no excess tax benefits for
the year ended December 31, 2006.

Determining Fair Value

Valuation and Amortization Method. We estimate the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-
Scholes option valuation model. For options granted before January 1, 2006, we amortize the fair value on an
accelerated basis. For options granted on or after January 1, 2006, we amortize the fair value on a straight-line
basis. All options are amortized over the requisite service periods of the awards, which are generally the vesting
periods. For restricted stock, the fair value is calculated as the market price on date of grant and we amortize the
fair value on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting
period.

Expected Term. The expected term of options granted represents the period of time that they are expected
to be outstanding. In light of new accounting guidance under SFAS No. 123(R) and SAB No. 107, we
reevaluated our expected term assumption used in estimating the fair value of employee options. We estimate the
expected term of options granted based on historical exercise patterns, which we believe are representative of
future behavior. Our estimate of the expected life of new options granted to our employees is 3 years, consistent
with prior periods. We have examined our historical pattern of option exercises in an effort to determine if there
were any discernable patterns of activity based on certain demographic characteristics. Demographic
characteristics tested included age, salary level, job level and geographic location. We have determined that there
were no meaningful differences in option exercise activity based on the demographic characteristics tested.

Expected Volatility. Also in light of implementing SFAS No. 123(R), we reevaluated our expected
volatility assumption used in estimating the fair value of employee options. We estimate the volatility of our
common stock at the date of grant based on historical volatility, consistent with SFAS No. 123(R) and SAB
No. 107. Our decision to use historical volatility instead of implied volatility was based upon analyzing historical
data along with the lack of availability of history of actively traded options on our common stock.

Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate that we use in the Black-Scholes option
valuation model on the implied yield in effect at the time of option grant on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues
with equivalent remaining terms.

Dividends. We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock and we do not anticipate paying cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently, we use an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-
Scholes option valuation model.

Forfeitures. SFAS No. 123(R) requires us to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those
estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We use historical data to
estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record share-based compensation expense only for those awards that
are expected to vest. For purposes of calculating pro forma information under SFAS No. 123 for periods prior to
2006, we accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.
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We used the following assumptions to estimate the fair value of options granted and shares purchased under
our ESPP for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively:

Year Ended
December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Stock Options – Assumptions used:
Average expected terms (years) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 3 5
Weighted-average volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83.0% 85.0% 97.0%
Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.8% 3.9% 3.6%
Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0% 0% 0%

ESPP – Assumptions used:
Average expected terms (years) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.25 0.25 0.25
Weighted-average volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56.5% 48.8% 74.4%
Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.6% 3.2% 1.4%
Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0% 0% 0%

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options
that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input
of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in our opinion, the existing models do not
necessarily provide a reliable single value of our options and may not be representative of the future effects on
reported net income or loss or the future stock price of our company.

Share-Based Compensation Expense and Stock Option Activity

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded $10.6 million in share-based compensation expense,
which includes $9.4 million for stock options, $529,000 for our ESPP and $637,000 for restricted stock. At
December 31, 2006, we had 373,000 non-vested restricted stock awards that had a weighted average grant date
fair value of $9.80. As of December 31, 2006, there was $32.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost
related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted under all equity compensation plans. Total
unrecognized compensation cost will be adjusted for future changes in estimated forfeitures. We expect to
recognize that cost over a weighted average period of 3.1 years.

A summary of stock option activity under all stock plans during the year ended December 31, 2006 is as
follows:

Stock
Options

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price per Share

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,549,315 $10.06 6.5 $18,793,738
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,614,199 8.28 9.8 —
Assumed upon acquisition of CyberGuard . . . . . 3,039,545 7.21 3.5 —
Assumed upon acquisition of CipherTrust . . . . . 2,543,662 2.88 2.6 —
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,418,544) 4.51 — 7,934,248
Cancelled/forfeited/expired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,467,625) 8.58 — —

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,860,552 8.52 6.6 11,608,819
Shares vested and expected to vest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,064,588 8.97 6.8 11,585,629
Exercisable at December 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,637,863 $ 9.45 5.2 $ 6,172,481

We define in-the-money options at December 31, 2006 as options that had exercise prices that were lower
than the $6.56 market price of our common stock at that date. The aggregate intrinsic value of options
outstanding at December 31, 2006 is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying

70



options and the market price of our common stock for the 4.0 million shares that were in-the-money at that date.
There were 2.1 million in-the-money options exercisable at December 31, 2006. During the year ended
December 31, 2006, 373,000 shares of restricted stock were awarded to employees and directors, of which none
had vested as of December 31, 2006. There were no restricted stock awards prior to 2006.

We received $6.4 million in cash from option exercises under all share-based payment arrangements for the
year ended December 31, 2006.

Comparable Disclosure

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our share-based compensation plans under the recognition and
measurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and related Interpretations. No share-based employee
compensation cost is reflected in the condensed consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market
value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net
income and net income per share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to
share-based employee compensation prior to January 1, 2006 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended
December 31,

2005 2004

Net income, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21,374 $ 12,835
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under
fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects . . . . . . . . . (10,454) (11,728)

Pro forma net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,920 $ 1,107

Net income per share:
Basic – as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.59 $ 0.36
Basic – pro forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.30 $ 0.03
Diluted – as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.57 $ 0.34
Diluted – pro forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.29 $ 0.03

11. Defined Contribution Plans

We have a voluntary defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code that
covers substantially all U.S. employees. Through 2006 the 401(k) plan provided a discretionary year-end
employer matching contribution on employee deferral contributions made during the plan year. The employer
matching contribution will be made quarterly in 2007. Employer contributions made to the 401(k) plan were
$401,000 during 2006, $274,000 during 2005, and none during 2004.

12. Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, (loss) income before income taxes includes the following components (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

(Loss) income before income taxes:
U.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(19,747) $21,425 $12,352
Non U.S. subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,854 557 483

Total (loss) income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(17,893) $21,982 $12,835

During 2006, we recorded income tax expense of $9.5 million. Of this $9.5 million income tax expense, a
non-cash expense of $8.5 million is related to a net tax valuation allowance recorded on our net deferred tax
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assets. We were unable to benefit from the initial release of valuation allowance on utilized acquired net
operating losses, and needed to provide tax expense for the subsequent valuation allowance reapplied to the
remaining net operating losses. This was a result of changes in circumstances due to recent acquisitions that
caused a change in judgment regarding the realizability of our net deferred tax assets in the fourth quarter. The
remainder of the income tax expense is related to current income tax components such as, alternative minimum
income tax, and state and foreign income taxes. This is compared with $608,000 of income tax expense recorded
in 2005 which consisted of $349,000 for alternative minimum tax expense, $58,000 for state income tax expense
and $201,000 for various foreign income tax expenses.

Federal alternative minimum tax was provided on the portion of our alternative minimum taxable income
which could not be entirely offset by the alternative tax net operating loss deduction carryforward which we have
available. Similar to 2006, we anticipate that we will be in an alternative minimum taxable income position in
2007. Current tax law provides that part or all of the amount of the alternative minimum tax paid can be carried
forward indefinitely and credited against federal regular tax in future tax years to the extent the regular tax
liability exceeds the alternative minimum tax in those years. For 2006, the reversal of $3.1 million of the tax
valuation allowance related to acquired net operating losses was recorded as a decrease to goodwill in the balance
sheet and not as a benefit to tax expense in the income statement.

The components for the provision for income taxes were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Current income tax expense:
U.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 465 $349 $ —
States (U.S.) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 212 58 62
Non U.S. subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 644 201 283

Deferred income tax expense:
U.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,459 — (345)
States (U.S.) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 725 — —
Non U.S. subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — —

Total income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $9,505 $608 $ —

A reconciliation of our provision for income taxes to the statutory tax rate based upon pretax (loss) income
was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Income taxes at U.S. statutory tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (6,262) $ 7,739 $ 4,264
State taxes, net of federal benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (137) 734 249
Non U.S. tax rate differential . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (310) 6 203
Change in valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,870 (10,543) (4,663)
Change in deferred tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3,066 —
Change in tax credit carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (360) —
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,257 — —
Imputed income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 623 — —
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 464 (34) (53)

Total income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,505 $ 608 $ —
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities result from temporary differences between the carrying values of
assets and liabilities for financial statement and income tax purposes. Significant components of our net deferred
tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,104 $ 538 $ 1,086
Payroll liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 638 363 239
Tax assets over book assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,956 — —
Tax over book amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,861 (864) (612)
Book over tax depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 619 93
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,164 2,034 —
Stock compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,188 — —
Income tax credits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,095 838 478
Net operating loss carryforward . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 110,603 68,236 79,172

Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . 124,609 71,764 80,456
Less valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (100,225) (68,160) (76,852)

Net deferred tax assets after valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,384 3,604 3,604

Deferred tax liabilities:
Acquired indefinite lived intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,672 — —
Acquired definite lived intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,724 — —
Other deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,660 — —

Total deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,056 — —

Net deferred tax (liabilities) assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (7,672) $ 3,604 $ 3,604

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, we have assessed the likelihood that the net deferred tax assets will be
realized. SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires the consideration of a valuation allowance in
all circumstances, if the conclusion is not more likely than not a valuation allowance is required. We have
determined that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets of $24.4 million at December 31, 2006 will be
realized based on our expected future reversals of certain deferred tax liabilities. We have a net deferred tax
liability recorded in our balance sheet that consists primarily of indefinite lived intangible assets that are not
deductible for tax purposes and therefore cannot be used to realize additional reversing deferred tax assets. In
accordance with SFAS No. 109, our remaining noncurrent deferred tax liabilities are netted with our noncurrent
deferred tax assets and are presented as a single amount in our consolidated balance sheet.

Worldwide net operating loss carryforwards totaled approximately $479.5 million at December 31, 2006,
comprised of $456.6 million domestic net operating loss carryforwards and $22.9 million of international net
operating loss carryforwards. These carryforwards are available to offset taxable income through 2026 and will
start to expire in 2011. Of these carryforwards, $208.1 million relates to acquired CyberGuard net operating
losses, $59.6 million relates to acquired N2H2 net operating losses, and $19.4 million relates to acquired
CipherTrust net operating losses. We have provided a complete valuation allowance on primarily all of these
acquired losses are fully valued against, and upon release of the valuation allowance, a portion of the benefit will
go to the balance sheet to reduce goodwill instead of a benefit to the income tax provision. As of December 31,
2006 we have deducted $56.8 million related to stock option exercises. The tax benefit in excess of book expense
from these stock option exercises will be recorded as an increase to additional paid-in capital upon utilization of
the net operating losses under the financial statement approach to recognizing the tax benefits associated with
stock option deductions. Of the remaining benefit associated with the carryforwards, approximately $111.3
million has yet to be recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. However, there are no assurances
that the tax benefit of these carryforwards will be available to offset future income tax expense when taxable
income is realized.
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No provision has been made for U.S. federal income taxes on certain cumulative undistributed earnings of
non U.S. subsidiaries as we intend to indefinitely reinvest these earnings in the non U.S. subsidiaries or the
earnings may be remitted substantially tax-free. The total cumulative undistributed earnings of certain of our non
U.S. subsidiaries that would be subject to federal income tax if remitted under existing law is approximately $5.9
million at December 31, 2006. Determination of the unrecognized deferred tax liability related to these earnings
is not practicable because of the complexities with its hypothetical calculation. Upon distribution of these
earnings, we may be subject to U.S. taxes and withholding taxes payable to various foreign governments.

13. Contingencies

In December 2002, we were named as the defendant in a rental property lawsuit brought by Salvio Pacheco
Square LLP in the Superior Court of California, County of Contra Costa. The complaint alleges that we breached
a commercial lease at our Concord, CA office and asked for declaratory relief, and compensatory and other
damages. The Superior Court entered judgment in favor of plaintiff in June 2004 in the amount of $1.1 million
and found we had breached the lease. We appealed to the First Appellate District, California Court of Appeal.
The Court of Appeal denied our appeal in April 2006. In addition to the judgment entered by the Superior Court
in June 2004, we incurred additional costs of $1.4 million as damages for the rental and other costs due on the
balance of the lease, interest on the judgment and unpaid amounts due under the lease and plaintiff’s attorney’s
fees and costs. As a result of the April 2006 denial of our appeal, we accrued $2.5 million as of March 31, 2006
for the settlement of this litigation. The settlement of $2.5 million was subsequently paid in July 2006.

On June 5, 2006, Finjan Software, Ltd. filed a complaint entitled Finjan Software, Ltd. v. Secure Computing
Corporation in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against Secure Computing
Corporation, CyberGuard Corporation, and Webwasher AG. The complaint alleges that Secure Computing and
its named subsidiaries infringe U.S. Patent No. 6,092,194 (“‘194 Patent”) based on the manufacture, use, and sale
of the Webwasher Secure Content Management suite. Secure Computing denies infringing any valid claims of
the ‘194 Patent. The answer to the complaint was filed on July 26, 2006. Discovery is proceeding.

On January 19, 2007, Rosenbaum Capital, LLC filed a putative securities class action complaint in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of California against us and certain directors and officers of
the company. The alleged plaintiff class includes persons who acquired stock between May 4, 2006 through
July 11, 2006. The complaint alleges generally that defendants made false and misleading statements about our
business condition and prospects for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2006, in violation of Section 10(b) and
20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rule 10b-5. The complaint seeks unspecified monetary
damages. While there can be no assurance as to the outcome of this or any other litigation we believe there are
meritorious legal and factual defenses to this action and we intend to defend ourselves vigorously.

From time to time we may be engaged in certain other legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary
course of our business. The ultimate liabilities, if any, which may result from these or other pending or
threatened legal actions against us cannot be determined at this time. However, in the opinion of management,
the facts known at the present time do not indicate that such litigation will have a material effect on our
consolidated financial position or results of operation.
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14. Net (Loss)/Income Per Share

The following table represents the calculation of basic and diluted net (loss)/income per share (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Net (loss)/income applicable to common stockholders . . . . . . . . . . $(43,551) $21,374 $12,835
Shares used in computing basic net (loss)/income per share . . . . . . 57,010 36,338 35,576
Outstanding dilutive stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 1,371 1,680

Shares used in computing diluted net (loss)/income per share . . . . . 57,010 37,709 37,256

Basic net (loss)/income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.76) $ 0.59 $ 0.36
Diluted net (loss)/income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.76) $ 0.57 $ 0.34

All potential common share equivalents for the year ended December 31, 2006 were excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share as inclusion of these shares would have been anti-dilutive.
Additionally, 5.6 million shares of common stock as if our preferred stock was converted, were excluded from
the effect of dilutive securities for the year ended December 31, 2006, because we reported a net loss for this
period. Potential common shares of 2.6 million and 2.5 million related to our outstanding stock options were
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for 2005 and 2004, respectively, as inclusion of
these shares would have been anti-dilutive.

15. Segment Information

We view our operations and manage our business as one segment called enterprise gateway security. Major
foreign markets for our products and services include Europe, Japan, China, the Pacific Rim, and Latin America.
In each market, we have independent channel partners who are responsible for marketing, selling and supporting
our products and services to resellers and end-users within their defined territories. International sales accounted
for 39%, 38% and 31% of total revenue for the years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The following table summarizes our domestic and international revenues (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Revenues:
Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $108,547 $ 67,689 $64,431
International . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 68,150 41,486 28,947

$176,697 $109,175 $93,378

No customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue in 2006, 2005 or 2004.

16. Related Party Transaction

In February 2005, we made a strategic investment in a privately-held technology company. As a result of
this $2.7 million investment, we have a 15% ownership stake in this company. This investment is reported in
other assets on our consolidated balance sheets and is evaluated for impairment annually.

Two of our board members, one of whom is a board member of the investee, are individual investors of the
investee. Due to their involvement with the investee, these two board members recused themselves from our
decision to make the investment.
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17. Summarized Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Quarter Ended
(in thousands, except per share data)

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2006
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 42,617 $38,746 $43,748 $ 51,586
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,685 28,822 31,963 36,069
Operating income/(loss) (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 769 (2,710) (6,347) (9,485)
Net income/(loss) (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 657 6,659 (7,291) (27,423)
Net (loss)/income applicable to common shareholders . . . . . . . (12,759) 5,722 (8,194) (28,320)
Basic and diluted (loss)/income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.25) $ 0.11 $ (0.14) $ (0.44)

2005
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 25,579 $26,113 $27,249 $ 30,234
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,594 21,578 22,217 22,737
Operating income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,121 4,746 5,404 6,080
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,062 4,946 5,792 6,574
Basic income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.11 $ 0.14 $ 0.16 $ 0.18
Diluted income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.11 $ 0.13 $ 0.15 $ 0.17

(1) Operating loss for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 was negatively impacted by the reduction in revenue
recognized in that quarter. For the quarters ended September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2006, operating
loss was impacted by the acquisition of CipherTrust. Because we are unable to establish VSOE of fair value
on the CipherTrust product line revenues, the majority of the revenue from those product lines has been
deferred, while the operating expenses continue to be recognized in the current periods, resulting in a net
operating loss impact.

(2) Net income for the quarter ended June 30, 2006 included the impact of benefiting from the reversal of $7.3
million of valuation allowance that had been established against our deferred tax assets. Net loss for the
quarter ended December 31, 2006 included a net $15.5 million tax expense due to being unable to benefit
from the initial release of valuation allowance on utilized acquired net operating losses and an increase in
the valuation allowance established against our deferred tax assets.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Secure Computing Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Secure Computing Corporation as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the
financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These consolidated financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Secure Computing Corporation at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the consolidated financial statements,
effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised
2004), Share-Based Payment, using the modified prospective method.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of Secure Computing Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 15, 2007,
expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 15, 2007

77



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Secure Computing Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the section in Item 9A entitled Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Secure Computing Corporation did not maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, because of the effect of ineffective controls
over the calculation of income taxes, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Secure
Computing Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the
policies and procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented
or detected. A material weakness has been identified and described in management’s assessment related to an
ineffective control over the accounting for income taxes as evidenced by a failure to detect necessary adjustments
to the income tax accounts. This deficiency resulted in material adjustments being made to the annual financial
statements and rises to the level of a material weakness. This material weakness was considered in determining
the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2006 financial statements, and this report
does not affect our report dated March 15, 2007 on those financial statements.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,
management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did
not include the internal controls of the business operations of CipherTrust, Inc. which are included in the 2006
consolidated financial statements of Secure Computing Corporation and constituted approximately $66.0 million
and $19.1 million of total and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2006 and $7.1 million of revenues for
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the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Secure Computing Corporation also
did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of the business operations of
CipherTrust, Inc.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Secure Computing Corporation did not maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, because of the material weakness described above on the achievement of
objectives of the control criteria, Secure Computing Corporation has not maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 15, 2007
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SECURE COMPUTING CORPORATION

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SECURE COMPUTING CORPORATION

Date: March 16, 2007 By: /S/ JOHN E. MCNULTY

John E. McNulty
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints John McNulty and Timothy Steinkopf or either of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact
and agents, with full power of substitution and re-substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto the attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and
perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all
intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or either of them, or their, his or her substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or
cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 16, 2007.

Signature Title

/s/ JOHN E. MCNULTY

John E. McNulty

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ TIMOTHY J. STEINKOPF
Timothy J. Steinkopf

Senior Vice President of Operations and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

/s/ JAY S. CHAUDHRY

Jay S. Chaudhry

Vice Chairman and Chief Strategy Officer

/s/ ROBERT J. FRANKENBERG
Robert J. Frankenberg

Director

/s/ JAMES F. JORDAN
James F. Jordan

Director

/s/ STEPHEN M. PURICELLI
Stephen M. Puricelli

Director

/s/ ERIC P. RUNDQUIST

Eric P. Rundquist

Director

/s/ ALEXANDER ZAKUPOWSKY, JR.
Alexander Zakupowsky, Jr.

Director

/s/ CARY DAVIS

Cary Davis

Director

/s/ RICHARD SCOTT
Richard Scott

Director
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SCHEDULE II
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006, 2005 AND 2004

Description

Balance at
Beginning
of Year

Additions
Charged to
Bad Debt
Expense

Adjustments
to Goodwill

Deductions-
Write-offs

Balance at
End of Year

Year ended December 31, 2006:
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1) . . . . . . $272,000 $947,000 $ 802,000 $(594,000) $1,427,000

Year ended December 31, 2005:
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . $450,000 $ 69,000 $ — $(247,000) $ 272,000

Year ended December 31, 2004:
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2) . . . . . . $868,000 $212,000 $(320,000) $(310,000) $ 450,000

(1) The amount noted as an adjustment to goodwill reflects the balance of acquired CipherTrust receivables
outstanding that are fully reserved as of December 31, 2006.

(2) The amount noted as an adjustment to goodwill reflects the finalization of the purchased N2H2 receivables
and therefore, did not impact earnings.
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-132130 and
333-138826) and in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-06563, 333-11451, 333-28927,
333-28929, 333-35651, 333-71913, 333-80065, 333-80963, 333-103595, 333-109755, 333-115583, 333-131144
and 333-138828) of our reports dated March 15, 2007, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and
schedule of Secure Computing Corporation, Secure Computing Corporation management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting of Secure Computing Corporation, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended
December 31, 2006.

/S/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 15, 2007
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John E. McNulty, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Secure Computing Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ JOHN E. MCNULTY

John E. McNulty
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

March 16, 2007
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Timothy J. Steinkopf, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form 10-K of Secure Computing Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ TIMOTHY J. STEINKOPF
Timothy J. Steinkopf

Senior Vice President of Operations and Chief Financial Officer

March 16, 2007
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Secure Computing Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ending December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, John E. McNulty, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ JOHN E. MCNULTY

John E. McNulty
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

March 16, 2007
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Secure Computing Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
period ending December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), I, Timothy J. Steinkopf, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ TIMOTHY J. STEINKOPF
Timothy J. Steinkopf

Senior Vice President of Operations and Chief Financial Officer

March 16, 2007
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Secure Computing®
is a leading provider of enterprise gateway security 

solutions.  Powered by our TrustedSource® technology, our best-of-breed 

portfolio of solutions provides Web Gateway, Messaging Gateway, and 

Network Gateway security, as well as Identity and Access Management.  

We are proud to be the security solutions provider to many of the 

most mission-critical and sensitive environments in the world.  Over 

half of the Fortune 50 and Fortune 500 are part of our more than 

19,000 global customers, supported by a worldwide network of 

more than 2,000 partners.  Our customers operate some of the 

world’s largest and most sophisticated electronic business 

operations, and include prominent organizations in banking, 

financial services, telecommunications, healthcare, manufac-

turing, public utilities, and federal and local governments.  The 

company is headquartered in San Jose, California, and has 

offices worldwide.

1 Total assets include goodwill from acquisitions of $533.7 million for 2006, $25.4 million for 2005, $25.5 million for 2004, $26.5 million for 2003 
   and $15.2 million for 2002. 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Revenue

   Gross profit 

   Net (loss) income from 
   continuing operations 

Net (loss) income

   Net (loss) income applicable to
   common shareholders 

Diluted (loss) income per share:

Continuing operations 

   Discontinued operations 

   Diluted (loss) income per share

BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Total assets1

   Debt, net of fees

   Convertible preferred stock 

   Stockholders’ equity

Year Ended December 31
(Table in thousands, except per share amounts)

$176,697

127,539

(27,398)

(27,398)

(43,551)

(0.76)

—

$(0.76)

724,128

85,023

65,558

409,741

2006

$61,960

51,654

(5,166)

(6,476)

(6,476)

(0.18)

(0.04)

$(0.22)

60,943

—

—

29,663

2002

$76,213

63,578

9,290

8,256

8,256

0.28

(0.03)

$0.25

108,475

—

—

72,014

2003

$93,378

75,991

12,835

12,835

12,835

0.34

—

$0.34

130,914

—

—

91,826

2004

$109,175

87,126

21,374

21,374

21,374

0.57

—

$0.57

171,763

—

—

121,883

2005

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

John McNulty
Chairman of the Board, 
President, and CEO

Jay Chaudhry 
Vice Chairman and 
Chief Strategy Officer

Robert J. Frankenberg
President and Founder, 
NetVentures

James F. Jordan
Private Investor

Stephen M. Puricelli 
Private Investor 

Eric P. Rundquist
Former President and CEO
Eric Thomas Inc. 

Alexander Zakupowsky, Jr. 
Attorney at Law
Winston & Strawn LLP. 

Cary J. Davis
Managing Director
Warburg Pincus 

Richard L. Scott 
Chairman and CEO
Richard L. Scott Investments, LLC.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

John McNulty
Chairman of the Board, 
President, and CEO

Jay Chaudhry
Vice Chairman and 
Chief Strategy Officer

Tim Steinkopf
Senior Vice President, Operations
and Chief Financial Officer

Mary K. Budge 
Senior Vice President, 
Secretary and General Counsel 

Vincent M. Schiavo
Senior Vice President, 
Worldwide Sales

Mike Gallagher 
Senior Vice President, 
Product Development 

Dr. Paul Judge  
Chief Technology Officer

Atri Chatterjee 
Senior Vice President, 
Marketing

Registrar and Transfer Agent
Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A.
Shareowner Services
161 North Concord Exchange
South St. Paul, Minnesota
55075-0738
+1.651.450.4023

Annual Meeting
The 2007 annual meeting of 
stockholders will be held on 
Thursday, May 10, 2007 at 
10:00 a.m. Pacific Daylight Time, 
at the Pruneyard Inn, 
1995 South Bascom Avenue, 
Campbell, California 95008

Additional Information
To request a copy of the Annual 
Report or Form 10-K please contact:
Investor Relations
Secure Computing Corporation
4810 Harwood Road
San Jose, CA  95124
+1.408.979.6100

©2007 Secure Computing Corporation.
All rights reserved.  All trademarks and 
logos are the property of their 
respective owners.



www.securecomputing.com

Corporate Headquarters
4810 Harwood Road

San Jose, CA 95124 USA

Tel +1.800.379.4944

Tel +1.408.979.6100

European Headquarters
Berkshire, UK

Tel +44.0.870.460.4766

Asia/Pac Headquarters
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Tel +852.2598.9280

Japan Headquarters
Tokyo, Japan

Tel +81.3.5339.6310
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